
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION 

COMBINED AUTHORITY 
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 

 
 
To: The Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee 
to be held on Wednesday 2nd October, 2019 at 2.00 pm in the Authority 

Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Shauna Phillips 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1086. 
 

Yours faithfully 
 

 
Chief Executive  

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk.  
 
 A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 
 

mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 

 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

   

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting held on 24 July 2019.  

  (Pages 1 - 6) 

INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

4. INTERNAL AUDIT PERFORMANCE  

 To consider a report of the Head of Internal Audit providing an overview of 
the internal audit work completed in respect of the Combined Authority for 
the second quarter of 2019-20, in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 
2019-20. 

  (Pages 7 - 34) 

5. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  

 To consider a report of the Head of Internal Audit The purpose of this 
report providing an update in respect of the system of corporate risk 
management and the activity that has been undertaken in embedding this 
system during the second quarter of 2019-20.  

  (Pages 35 - 52) 

6. COUNTER-FRAUD UPDATE  

 To consider a report of the Head of Internal Audit providing an update in 
respect of managing the risk of fraud and corruption in the organisation.  

  (Pages 53 - 88) 

FINANCE 
 

7. BRIEFING NOTE ON THE AMENDMENTS TO THE LIVERPOOL CITY 
REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY SINGLE ENTITY STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTS 2018-19  

 To consider a briefing note of the Head of Finance concerning 
amendments to the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Single 
Entity Statement of Accounts for 2018-19.  

  (Pages 89 - 96) 



 

 

 
GOVERNANCE 

 

8. CONSTITUTION UPDATE AND COMBINED AUTHORITY RETURNING 
OFFICER  

 To consider a report of the Monitoring Officer providing an update on the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Constitution and Returning 
Officer.  

  (Pages 97 - 144) 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
At a meeting of the Audit & Governance Committee held in the Authority 
Chamber – No 1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Wednesday 24th July 2019 
the following members were in attendance 
 
Councillor E Finneran  Overview & Scrutiny  Sefton MBC 
Councillor P Murphy  Overview & Scrutiny  Knowsley MBC 
Councillor Dr J Pugh  Overview & Scrutiny  Sefton MBC 
Councillor H Cameron Overview & Scrutiny  Wirral MBC 
Martin McDonagh  Independent Member  
 

16. Appointment of Chair for 2019/20  
 
Councillor Paula Murphy nominated Councillor Edna Finneran to be the 
Chairperson of the Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee.  
 
This was seconded by Councillor Dr John Pugh.  
 
RESOLVED that Councillor Edna Finneran be appointed as the Chairperson of 
the Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee for the remainder of 
the municipal year.  
 

17. Appointment of Vice Chair for 2019/20  
 
Monitoring Officer Jill Coule invited nominations from the members for the Vice-
Chair of the Audit & Governance Committee for 2019/20. Councillor Edna 
Finneran nominated Councillor Paula Murphy to be the Vice Chair of the 
Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee. This was seconded by 
Councillor Dr John Pugh.  
 
RESOLVED - That Councillor Paula Murphy be appointed as the Vice Chair of 
the Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee for the remainder of 
the municipal year 2019/20. 
 

18. Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor David Baines, Councillor 
Pat Hackett and Councillor Sir Ron Watson OBE. 
  

19. Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

20. Minutes of the last meeting held on 20th March 2019  
RESOLVED - That the minutes of the previous meeting of the Liverpool City 
Region Audit and Governance Committee held on 20 March 2019 be approved 
as a correct record.  
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Audit & Governance Committee 
 
 
 

21. Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2018-19  
 
The Committee received the Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion for 2018-
19 of the Head of Internal Audit, Laura Williams. The report gave an overview of 
the work undertaken by the Internal Audit department for the Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) over the last financial year.  
 
Head of Internal Audit, Laura Williams noted that the majority of work undertaken 
had been to provide advice and support on the creation and implementation of 
new systems in the LCRCA as they were developed and therefore there had 
been less traditional audit work delivered. Advice and guidance had been 
provided on key areas of the LCRCA such as the Adult Education Budget and 
Housing First, and there had also been considerable time spent on assurance of 
the grant regime as more grants had become available over the last 12 months.  
 
The Committee were informed that Risk Management had also been integral in 
forming the Head of Internal Audit’s Opinion for 2018/19 as the Risk Register was 
introduced late in the year after being finalised in January and arrangements had 
been developing and becoming embedded since then.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit provided an ‘Inadequate’ opinion with good capacity 
for improvement. It was explained that Inadequate reflected the development of 
the LCRCA and its processes during the year, and the fact that risk management 
arrangements had not been in place for the whole year.  
 
Councillor Dr John Pugh sought clarity on the Internal Audit Opinion for the 
LCRCA and if improvements were needed for Merseytravel as well as it was a 
longstanding organisation.  
 
It was explained that the opinion provided for Merseytravel was separate to the 
LCRCA and that it had very well embedded procedures in place  
 
Councillor Paula Murphy thanked the Head of Internal Audit and the team for the 
work they have undertaken, and also thanked officers for the report which she felt 
was in a more readable format than previous years.  She sought clarification on 
whether all grants were audited and also on whether Internal Audit anticipated 
any changes in the type of audit work they would be engaged in moving forward.  
 
Laura Williams reported that grants were audited on the basis of materiality or if it 
was stipulated in the grant agreement. In respect of the audit work for next year, 
Internal Audit anticipated a return to more traditional audit functions after the last 
two years which had been exceptional because of  the development and 
establishment of the LCRCA.  
 
RESOLVED – That the Audit and Governance Committee notes the report.  
 
 
 
 

Page 2



 

22. Internal Audit Performance Report  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Head of Internal Audit, Laura Williams 
that presented the work undertaken by Internal Audit for the Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) in the first Quarter of 2019/20.  
 
Section 2 of the report provided details of work relating to the LCRCA or to 
Merseytravel and it was explained that Quarter 1 had been a very busy period for 
Internal Audit.  
 
Member’s attention was drawn to Section 6, which provided information on the 
effectiveness of Internal Audit. It was noted that Internal Audit were slightly 
behind on delivery for 2019/20 at this juncture, however the team had been very 
productive and it was hoped in Quarter 2 delivery would recover, as there is 
considerable work in progress.  
 
It was noted that the performance targets for the year had been amended and 
the Internal Audit team aimed to complete 100% of planned audits.  
 
RESOLVED- That:- 
 

(a) the progress made in the delivery of the approved Internal Audit Plan in 
respect of the Combined Authority be noted; and 

  
(b) the outcomes of the audit work undertaken during the period of the report 

be noted.  
 

23. Risk Management Update  
 
The Committee considered the Risk Management Update provided by Laura 
Williams, Head of Internal Audit, and a tabled spreadsheet which related to the 
organisation’s risks. 
 
It was explained that over the last financial year, work had been undertaken to 
embed corporate risk arrangements and as such a corporate risk register. The 
register had been reviewed and updated to portray all of the significant areas of 
risk for the LCRCA.  
 
Laura Williams reported that discussions had begun on the organisation’s risk 
appetite and the level of risk the LCRCA should be willing to take whilst 
remaining cautious and diligent.  
 
Councillor Dr John Pugh queried the vagueness of the corporate risk register and 
whether risks more specifically related to the projects of the LCRCA, such as the 
Tidal scheme, may be more useful. 
 
Laura Williams explained that the risks that appeared in the register were those 
deemed to be most significant to the organisation and projects like Tidal were not 
developed enough at this stage to pose significant risk. Director of Resources, 
John Fogarty, elucidated that under the risk –‘failure to deliver’ there  were 

Page 3



Audit & Governance Committee 
 
 
 

mechanisms in place to provide project management information to cover all 
projects of the LCRCA, each with its own RAG rating. This more detailed 
information was available if members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
wished to request it.  
 
RESOLVED- That:-  
 
(a)  the progress made in embedding the system of corporate risk 

management into the organisation be noted; and 
  

(b) the refreshed Corporate Risk Register be noted. 
 

 
24. Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Final Accounts 2018-19  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Head of Finance, Sarah Johnston, 
presenting the findings of the external audit undertaken by Mazars, noting that 
the accounts were in draft. The external audit was ongoing and once finalised the 
Audit & Governance Committee would be asked to consider the report again.  
 
Gareth Hitchmough, Mazars, explained that this was Mazars first year as auditors 
for the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA). The Members 
attention was drawn to page four of the report which highlighted the status of 
completion of various areas of the audit such as Pension Liability and Cash in 
bank.  
 
Concerns around pension liability had since been addressed and had arisen as a 
result of the recent McCloud Court of Appeal Judgement [2018] court case. It 
was explained that the changes caused by the McCloud case were immaterial 
and as such would not affect the final accounts. 
 
Members were informed that an issue had arisen around the historical 
categorisation of cash and bank transactions between Merseytravel and the 
LCRCA. Mazars were currently speaking with management at the LCRCA to 
resolve the issue and consider if the previous year’s accounts also needed to be 
amended and restated.  
 
It was reported that the external auditors had received full cooperation from the 
LCRCA finance team during the audit.  Mazars noted that in their estimation 
there was limited staffing capacity during the audit process.  
 
Monitoring Officer, Jill Coule, advised that the recommendations for the report be 
amended as follows:- 
 

(a) Review and consider the draft external Auditors Statement of Accounts in 
Appendix A;  
  

(b) Note that the external auditors’ complete report on the statement of 
accounts for the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority will be 

Page 4



 

presented to a future meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee for 
consideration and onward recommendation to the Combined Authority.  

 
Members queried whether the Risk Register currently in place would be sufficient 
moving forward and also if the assessment of value for money had been 
impacted by the quorum issues of the Overview & Scrutiny and Audit & 
Governance Committee for 2018/19. It was explained that there needed to be an 
appropriate system in place for the application of scrutiny around public money 
and the external auditors felt that this was not being done effectively due to the 
number of inquorate meetings in 2018/19. 
 
RESOLVED- That:- 
 
(a)  the draft external Auditors Statement of Accounts in Appendix A be 

reviewed and considered;  
 

(b) the external auditors complete report on the statement of accounts for the  
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority will be presented to a future 
meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee for consideration and 
onward recommendations to the Combined Authority be noted.  

 
25. Constitution and Information Governance Update  

 
Members heard a report of the Monitoring Officer, Jill Coule, on the revised terms 
of reference for the Audit and Governance Committee in the updated Constitution 
of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority.  
 
The Committee were asked to provide their opinion on the preferred option under 
section 3 of the report relating to the circulation of revised documents. It was 
agreed that in advance of the papers being published for the Audit and 
Governance Committee that the proposed changes to the Financial Standing 
Orders and Codes and Protocols be circulated to the Committee members via 
email for consideration and any feedback.  
 
RESOLVED- That:-  
 
(a) the work being undertaken to revise the constitution be noted; and 

  
(b)  the preferred course of action in light of the options set out in paragraph 

3.5 of the report be agreed.  
 

26. Draft Work Programme and Meeting Schedule for 2019/20  
 
The Committee heard a report of Charles Yankiah, Senior Democratic Services 
Officer, regarding the proposed Work Programme for 2019/20. The report took 
into account the contributions made by the Head of Internal Audit, Head of 
Finance and the Monitoring Officer.  
 
Councillor Murphy queried if there was any training available for members of the 
Audit and Governance Committee to aid in understanding some of the 

Page 5



Audit & Governance Committee 
 
 
 

documentation provided for consideration. It was proposed that any suggestions 
for training be submitted to the Democratic Services team.  
 
RESOLVED - That the proposed Work Programme for 2019/20 as set out at 
Appendix A and that any recommendations during the course of the municipal 
year be made in consultation with the Chair and the Monitoring Officer be agreed.  
 
 

 

Page 6



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Combined Authority 

Audit and Governance Committee 
  
Meeting:  2 October 2019 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  Combined Authority/All Districts 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
INTERNAL AUDIT PERFORMANCE  

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority (LCRCA) Audit and Governance Committee with an overview of the 
internal audit work completed in respect of the Combined Authority for the second 
quarter of 2019-20, in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 2019-20. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Audit and Governance Committee is 

recommended to: 
 

(a) Note the progress made in the delivery of the approved Internal Audit Plan  
in respect of the Combined Authority; and 

 
(b)  Note the outcomes of the audit work undertaken during the period of the 

 report. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the work undertaken by the Internal Audit service in 
respect of LCRCA in the second quarter of 2019-20.  The report highlights the 
following key points: 

 
(a)  A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the quarter; 
 
(b)  Details of work undertaken, and key items of note in respect of corporate 

systems, Liverpool City Region Combined Authority specific systems and 
Merseytravel specific systems; 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



(c)  An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key 
performance indicators detailed in the Quality Assurance and Improvement 
Programme (QAIP); and 

 
(d) An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards (PSIAS). 
    

 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.4 Information Technology 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 It is the responsibility of the LCRCA to establish effective arrangements for the 

management of risk.  Internal Audit reports highlight weaknesses which pose a risk 
to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives and the according 
recommendations assist in mitigating such risks.  Internal audit work is one strand 
of assurance regarding the effectiveness of the system of internal control and this 
can be utilised to inform the LCRCA’s view of organisational risk and its 
management. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 

7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 

Page 8



8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 Internal Audit has made positive progress in the period of this report to deliver the 

Internal Audit Plan 2019-20.   
 
9.2 This report demonstrates how the provision of available Internal Audit resource has 

been utilised to provide appropriate assurance to the Combined Authority. 
 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit   tel: 0151 330 1764 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – Internal Audit Performance  
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT PERFORMANCE 
 

 

 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

2 October 2019 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

P
age 11



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 

Page 
 

1. Introduction              2 
 

2. Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery          3 
 

3. Corporate Systems             5 
 

4. Liverpool City Region Combined Authority: Specific Systems       7 
 

5. Merseytravel Specific Systems         9 
 

6. Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme      12 
 

7. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards        15 
 

Appendices 
A - Internal Audit Plan 2019-20 Status Update             18 
B - Internal Audit Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority Levels        22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 12



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 2 
 

1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of Internal Audit work completed in the second quarter of 2019-20, in 

respect of the Internal Audit Plan 2019-20.   
   
1.2 The report is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee so as to facilitate the Committee’s obligations, as defined in 

its Terms of Reference, in monitoring the effectiveness of the LCRCA’s internal audit arrangements. It highlights the outcomes 
of Internal Audit work as a source of assurance on the effectiveness of the LCRCA’s governance, risk and internal control 
environment.  

 
1.3 Internal Audit is defined as: “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve 

an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach 
to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.” (Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards 2017) 

 
1.4 The mission of Internal Audit is to: “To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective 

assurance, advice and insight”. 
 
1.5 This report includes: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 

 Details of work undertaken, and key items of note in respect of corporate systems, Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority specific systems and Merseytravel specific systems; 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance indicators detailed in the Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP); and 

 An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).  
 

A section on Fraud and Corruption is not included in this report, as there is a detailed update report included elsewhere on the 
agenda for this meeting.    

 

P
age 13



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 3 
 

2.  Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery 
 
2.1 Audits Completed  

  
2.1.1 In the second quarter of the year, nine audits were completed. These are shown in Table 1 (those shown in italics are at draft 

stage): 
 

Audit Title Organisational Risk Opinion Entity 

Corporate 
System 

LCRCA Merseytravel 

Carbon Reduction Commitment Negligible X   

Waste Management Contract Minor X   

Catering Concession - Contract Management Minor   X 

Term Maintenance Contract Minor X   

Service / Maintenance Contracts Minor X   

Street Furniture Contract Minor   X 

Beatles Story - Admissions Minor   X 

Ancillary Income and Debt Recovery Minor X   

Bus Provider Failure Minor   X 
     Table 1 

 

2.2 Review of Internal Audit Plan  
 
2.2.1 Since the last meeting, three pieces of audit work have been removed from the Internal Audit Plan: Tunnel Strategy and 

Mersey Ferries New Vessel.  In terms of the Tunnel Strategy, the original scope of the audit was felt to no longer be relevant, 
and so the more generic elements, relating to the governance arrangements for strategies, has been included within the scope 
of the audit of Democratic Services.  The Mersey Ferries New Vessel work has been deferred to 2020/21’s Internal Audit Plan 
as this represents more appropriate timing for the work. The work on Insurance has become a Proactive Counter-Fraud job, 
reviewing the highest areas of fraud risk regarding claims. 

 

P
age 14



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 4 
 

2.2.2 Appendix A gives a detailed breakdown of the Internal Audit Plan 2019-20, showing the status of each item of audit work that 
was contained with the Plan as approved by this Committee on 20 March 2019, and the risk rating of each piece of work as it 
was assessed at the time of the planning process. 

 
       

                   
               

P
age 15



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 5 
 

3.  Corporate Systems 
 
3.1 Background 
  
3.1.1 Five of the audits completed in the period were of corporate systems that are provided by Merseytravel to both Merseytravel 

and LCRCA.  Reporting of the outcomes from the audit work in these areas formally falls within the remit of the Merseytravel 
Audit, Risk and Governance Board, but as the LCRCA is a “recipient” of these services, the audit findings will also be reported 
to the Audit and Governance Committee.  This is to provide assurance that the risks associated with these are being managed 
effectively.  

 
3.2 Organisational Risk Opinion  
 
3.2.1 All of these audits of Corporate Systems received an organisational risk opinion of “Minor” or “Negligible” which means that a 

satisfactory level of assurance on the effectiveness of the internal controls reviewed can be derived, and that the risk 
presented to the organisation by the recommendations made is at a low level. 

 
3.3 Recommendations of Note 
 
3.3.1 The audits completed within the period identified one recommendation classed as “high priority”. 

3.3.2 This recommendation is detailed in Table 2: 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by 
Management 

Ancillary Income and Debt 
Recovery 
 

The location of the missing promissory note books should 
be investigated as soon as possible. 

Comments awaited 

      Table 2 

 

P
age 16



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 6 
 

3.3.3 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed and 
confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm actions 
completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate.  

 
3.3.4 Table 3 provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previously reported recommendations made in 

respect of corporate systems: 
 

 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              Cont’d 

Audit Name
Assurance     

Rating

Organisational              

Impact
Priority Required Advisory Completed In Progress Overdue Comment

2017-18

Ethical Policy Framework Reasonable Medium 0 10 2 2 10 4 Revised implementation date requested

Offsite Document Archive Storage Limited High 3 16 4 21 2 0

Tunnel Tours Limited Medium 3 7 3 13 0 0

Customer Feedback Reasonable Medium 1 14 2 8 9 9 Revised implementation date requested

Ancillary Income and Debt Recovery Limited Medium 2 13 0 15 0 0

Absence Management Reasonable Medium 0 5 6 10 1 0

Mobile Phone Monitoring Substantial Low 0 3 3 5 1 0

Fleet Management Limited Medium 3 20 1 10 14 0

Investigation - A Procurement n/a n/a 0 4 3 6 1 0

Asset Register Reasonable Medium 0 2 3 4 1 0

Collaborative Working  TAG Reasonable Medium 0 2 3 0 5 0

Procurement Reasonable Medium 0 8 7 7 8 2 Revised implementation date requested

IT - Information Governance Reaasonable Medium 0 4 1 4 1 1 Revised implementation date requested

IT - Database Management Limited Medium 1 1 0 1 1 1 Revised implementation date requested

IT - Business Continuity Limited High 7 2 0 5 4 4 Revised implementation date requested

IT Strategy Limited Medium 1 0 0 0 1 0

Corporate Risk Management Satisfactory n/a 0 7 0 4 3 0

2018-19

Creditors & Cheque Control Reasonable Medium tbc tbc tbc n/a n/a n/a

Debtors Reasonable Low 0 2 0 2 0 0

Main Accounting System Reasonable Medium tbc tbc tbc n/a n/a n/a

Procurement Cards Limited Medium 1 5 2 7 1 1 Revised implementation date requested

Treasury Management Reasonable Medium tbc tbc tbc n/a n/a n/a

VAT Reasonable Medium tbc tbc tbc n/a n/a n/a

Delegated Decisions Reasonable Low 1 2 2 1 4 0

Gifts & Hospitality Reasonable Medium 0 11 0 0 11 0

Severance, Redundancy Substantial None 0 0 0 n/a n/a n/a

Travel, Accommodation & Expenses Limited Medium tbc tbc tbc n/a n/a n/a

Payroll Reasonable Medium 1 4 0 4 1 0

Mail Services Limited Medium 1 13 1 12 3 2 Revised implementation date requested

Fast Tag Account Management Reasonable Medium 0 7 0 5 2 0

Tunnels Concessionary Travel Scheme Reasonable Low 2 5 0 4 3 2 Revised implementation date requested

IT - Information Security Policies Satisfactory n/a 0 5 0 0 5 0

IT - Cyber Security Satisfactory n/a 3 10 0 2 11 0

IT - Network Management Satisfactory n/a 0 6 0 2 4 0

IT - E-mail / Communications Satisfactory n/a 0 4 0 2 2 0

IT - Mobile Working Satisfactory n/a 2 7 1 3 7 0

IT - ITIL Service Management Satisfactory n/a 0 5 0 0 5 0

IT - IT Asset Control (CMDB) Satisfactory n/a 0 6 0 0 6 0

P
age 17



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 7 
 

 

 
             Table 3 

 
3.3.5 A number of recommendations have had their implementation dates revised, and these are shown in the Comments column in 

table 3 above.  These movements have been the subject of discussions with internal audit, and the explanations provided 
were deemed to be reasonable.  Ongoing attention paid to these recommendations to ensure that timely implementation 
occurs. 

 
 
 
  
  

Audit Name
Organisational 

Risk Opinion
High Medium Advisory Completed In Progress Overdue Comment

2019-20

Concierge & Portering Contract Minor 0 2 1 2 1 0

Waste Management Contract Minor 0 0 1 1 0 0

Term Maintenance Contract Minor 0 7 0 0 7 0

Service / Maintenance Contracts Minor 0 1 0 0 1 0

Ancillary Income and Debt Recovery Minor 1 3 2

P
age 18



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 8 
 

4.  Liverpool City Region Combined Authority: Specific Systems 
 
4.1 Background 
 
4.1.1 None of the audits completed in the period were of systems that are specific to LCRCA.  However, work has been ongoing of 

an advice and guidance nature, and routine audit work has commenced.  There was also work undertaken on certification of 
grant claims. From a governance perspective, these fall entirely within the remit of the Audit and Governance Committee, and 
would not be routinely reported to the Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board.  

 
4.2 Work Completed 

 

4.2.1 During the period, work has commenced on Households into Work, and early discussions regarding the scoping of work in the 
Investment Team have also taken place.  It is expected that such work will accelerate in Quarter 3. 

 
4.2.2 Work has also continued during the period to advise on Housing First and Adult Education Budget, in both cases being 

involved in advising on the financial controls that need to be in place prior to the projects going live.  Housing First has moved 
into the delivery phase in June 2019, and the Adult Education Budget system is launched in September 2019, and formal 
audit work to appraise the controls will be undertaken to coincide with these commencement dates. 

 
4.3 Grant Certification 
 
4.3.1 In the period, the following grant claims were reviewed, so as to confirm compliance with grant conditions: 

Grant Name Number of Claims 
Audited 

Q2 

Value Audited 
Q2 
(£) 

Number of 
Claims Audited 

Year to Date 

Value Audited 
 Year to Date 

(£) 

Careers and Enterprise (LEP) 2 57,160 4 113,510 

Growth Hub (LEP) 1 73,821 2 213,732 

Low Energy Hub (LEP) 1 53,395 2 105,102 

Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) 13 1,095,385 26 2,382,605 

TOTAL 17 1,279,790 34 2,814,949 
         Table 4  

P
age 19



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 9 
 

 

5.  Merseytravel Specific Systems 
 
5.1 Background 
 
5.1.1 Four of the audits completed in the period were of systems that are specific to Merseytravel.  From a governance perspective, 

these fall entirely within the remit of the Audit, Risk and Governance Board, and so are reported to this Committee for 
information and transparency. 

 
5.2 Organisational Risk Opinion 
 
5.2.1 All of these audits received an organisational risk opinion of “Minor” or “Negligible”, which means that a satisfactory level of 

assurance on the effectiveness of the internal controls reviewed can be derived, and that the risk presented to the 
organisation by the recommendations made is at a low level. 

 
5.3 Recommendations of Note 
 
5.3.1 The audit completed of Merseytravel specific systems within the period identified no recommendations classed as “high 

priority”. 

 

5.3.2 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed and 
confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts Managers to establish progress, confirm actions 
completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate.  

 
5.3.3 Table 5 provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previously reported recommendations made in 

respect of Merseytravel specific systems: 

P
age 20



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 10 
 

 

 
Table 5 

 
 
5.3.4 A number of recommendations have had their implementation dates revised, and these are shown in the Comments column in 

table 3 above.  These movements have been the subject of discussions with internal audit, and the explanations provided 
were deemed to be reasonable.  Ongoing attention paid to these recommendations to ensure that timely implementation 
occurs. 

 
 

5.4 Grant Certification 
 
5.4.1 In the period, the following grant claims were reviewed, so as to confirm compliance with grant conditions: 
 
 
 
 
 

Audit Name
Assurance     

Rating

Organisational              

Impact
Priority Required Advisory Completed In Progress Overdue Comment

2017-18

Rail Concession Benefit Share Reasonable Medium 0 11 1 7 5 5 Revised implementation date requested

Investigation - Concessionary Ticket Application n/a n/a 1 4 0 4 1 0

Mersey Ferries - Walk Up Sales Reasonable Medium 1 17 2 20 0 0

Travel Centres Reasonable Medium 2 14 2 17 1 1 Revised implementation date requested

LSP Concession Substantial Low 1 6 0 7 0 0

Newton Le Willows Interchange Project Substantial None 0 0 2 2 0 0

2018-19

Concessionary & Prepaid Travel Substantial Low 1 3 0 4 0 0

Vehicle Tracking System Reasonable Low 1 3 4 3 5 3 Revised implementation date requested

Beatles Story - Governance Reasonable Low 0 7 0 6 1 0

Travel Centres - Stock / Income Reasonable Medium 3 8 0 8 3 0

Contact Centre Reasonable Low 3 4 2 2 7 0

Audit Name
Organisational 

Risk Opinion
High Medium Advisory Completed In Progress Overdue Comment

2019-20

Rail Operators - Ticket Stock Control Minor 0 8 3 7 4 0

Catering Concession - Contract Management Minor 0 5 2 1 6 0

Street Furniture Contract Minor 0 1 1 0 2 0

Beatles Story - Admissions Minor 0 7 1

Provider Failure Minor 0 1 1

P
age 21



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 11 
 

Grant Name Number of 
Claims Audited 

Q2 

Value Audited 
Q2 
(£) 

Number of Claims 
Audited 

Year to Date 

Value Audited 
 Year to Date 

(£) 

Halton Curve 3 1,579,485 3 1,579,485 

Newton Le Willows Railway 
Station (Contribution Only) 

  2 0 

Key Route Network 1 15,201 4 83,393 

TOTAL 4 1,594,686 9 1,662,878 
                    Table 6 

   

P
age 22



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 12 
 

6.  Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme  
 
6.1 Performance Update 
 
6.1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require that the service maintains a Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme (QAIP) which includes a series of performance measures and associated targets.  
 
6.1.2 Performance measures defined in the QAIP are also included within the 2019/20 Internal Audit Service Plan and are thus 

reported to senior management in accordance with the corporate quarterly performance reporting process.  This provides 
senior management oversight of performance and of any remedial actions required to meet identified targets.  

  
6.1.3 Table 8 below details the performance measures and the results for the period: 
  

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Compliance with Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS) 
This measures the extent to which the Internal 
Audit Service complies with the requirements 
set out in the Standards and the Local 
Government Application Note. 

100% 83% Negative variance 
The results of self-assessment reveal that the service 
continues to “generally comply” with the Standards, 
but the updated assessment reflects the requirements 
of the new LGAN and reflects the accelerated 
improvement journey being undergone by the service. 

Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 
2019/20 completed 
This measures extent to which the Audit Plan 
is being delivered. The delivery of the Plan is 
vital in ensuring that an appropriate level of 
assurance is being provided across the 
organisation’s systems. 

40% 
See 

graph 
below 

19% 
See 

graph 
below 

Negative variance 
There has been a negative knock-on effect of 
protracted completion of 2018-19 work, which has 
impacted on this year’s plan.  There is a significant 
amount of work in progress to be completed in 
quarter 3. 

Percentage of recommendations made that 
have been agreed to be implemented by 
management 

100% 100% No variance 
Acceptance of recommendations is generally high. 

P
age 23



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 13 
 

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

This measures the extent to which managers 
feel that the recommendations made are 
appropriate and valuable in strengthening the 
control environment. 

Percentage of client survey responses 
indicating a "very good" or "good" opinion 
This measures the feedback received on the 
service provided, and seeks to provide 
assurance that Internal Auditors conduct their 
duties in a professional manner. 

100% 100% No variance 
Worthy of note that return levels are generally low.  
The questionnaire has been streamlined so as to 
boost return levels. 

Percentage of annual senior management 
survey responses indicating satisfaction 
with the Internal Audit service provided 
This measures the feedback received from 
Directors and Heads of Service on the service 
provided, and seeks to provide assurance that 
Internal Audit is adding value at a strategic 
level. 

100% N/A Exercise of obtaining senior management feedback is 
undertaken in Quarter 4. 

       Table 7 

 
6.1.4 Chart 1 below gives a more detailed breakdown of the performance indicator “percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 2019-20 

completed”.  This has been profiled to show the percentage of the Plan that is the target for completion each quarter. 
 

P
age 24



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 14 
 

  
                               Chart 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15% 

40% 

70% 

100% 

5% 19% 0% 0% 

QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

Completion of the Internal Audit Plan      
2019-20  

(profiled) 

Target Actual

P
age 25



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 15 
 

6. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

 
6.1 Internal Assessment  
 
6.1.1 The PSIAS Local Government Application Note (LGAN), the document which assists in translating the requirements of the 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards into a local government setting, has been reviewed, and a refreshed document issued 
by CIPFA in February 2019. It is important to state that this document does not introduce new requirements emanating from 
the Standards, but is more useful in assisting local authorities to assess their own compliance with the Standards.  

 
6.1.2 An exercise has been undertaken to review and refresh the self-assessment of the service against the updated LGAN.   
 
6.1.3 The self-assessment indicated 83% compliance with its requirements.  Whilst this is still a very positive level of compliance, 

and still indicates that the service “generally complies” with the Standards.  However, it is a reduction from the previous 
assessment undertaken in early 2018, when it was assessed that there was full compliance with the PSIAS, as all actions 
arising from the external assessment were deemed to have been implemented.  This more prudent assessment is more 
reflective of the current level of compliance, and the huge amount of work done to modernise the service, developing an 
explicit risk focus and higher standards of work and reporting. 

 
6.1.4 There were a number of actions arising from the self-assessment, and these fell into two categories – those felt to be essential 

to compliance with the PSIAS, and secondly, those felt to be improvements that could be made so as to continue the 
development of the service.  The actions arising from the self-assessment are detailed in the following table: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 26



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 16 
 

 

Ref Action Implementation Due Date 

1 Complete the Assurance Mapping exercise. March 2020 

2 Consulting Engagements need to be included, and adequately defined, within the 
Audit Manual. 

March 2020 

3 Archived records that are past their retention period should be deleted.  It is noted 
that such records are only accessible to the audit team. 

March 2020 

4 Update QAIP document and Audit Manual to reflect 2019-20 performance 
indicators. 

December 2019 

Areas for Development 

1 Ensure that the appointment to the Risk Manager post further enhances the 
safeguards relating to roles and responsibilities that fall outside of internal 
auditing. 

January 2020 

2 Embed the process of auditor and manager discussion re scope/most pertinent 
risks/available time budget; and pre-audit discussions with client to aid the 
process of scoping the audit review. 

March 2020 

3 Enhance the process of discussing draft reports through embedding face-to-face 
meetings with the client. 

March 2020 

4 Embed the Post-Audit Assessment in the team, so as to encourage ongoing 
improvement and development of the service, to support the Quality Assurance 
and Improvement Programme. 

March 2020 

                    Table 8 

 

6.2 External Assessment 
 
6.2.1 It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the service must be subject to an external assessment of its compliance with the 

Standards every five years.  The service was subject to such an external assessment (peer review validation of self-
assessment) against the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) in June 2017.  

 

P
age 27



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 17 
 

6.2.2 The overall outcome of this assessment was that the service conforms to the PSIAS.  All actions arising from the report have 
subsequently been completed. 

 
6.2.3 The internal assessment is kept updated until the next scheduled external review, which would take place in 2022. 
 
  

P
age 28



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 18 
 

Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2019-20 Status Update 
 

Audit Title Entity Status Risk Level 

Corporate 
System 

LCRCA Merseytravel   

Investment Models   X   Early scoping 
discussion held 

Moderate 

SIF2 Assurance Framework   X   Moderate 

Mayoral Programme - Digital   X    Not yet commenced Moderate 

Mayoral Programme - Tidal   X    Not yet commenced Moderate 

Housing First   X    Not yet commenced Moderate 

Households into Work   X    Commenced Moderate 

Corporate Planning, Performance and Data Quality X      Commenced Major 

Adult Education Budget   X    Not yet commenced Major 

Lessons Learned ESIF    X    Not yet commenced Moderate 

PMO X      Commenced Moderate 

Project Pipeline   X    Commenced Moderate 

LEP Governance Annual Review   X    Not yet commenced Moderate 

LEP Risk and Control Review   X    Not yet commenced Moderate 

Annual Governance Statement Review 2019-20   X    Not yet commenced Moderate 

Network Rail Interface     X  Not yet commenced Moderate 

Introduction into Service     X  Not yet commenced Moderate 

Manufacturing     X  Not yet commenced Moderate 

Payroll X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Absence Management X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Health and Safety X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Recruitment and Selection X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Phone Monitoring X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

P
age 29



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 19 
 

Audit Title Entity Status Risk Level 

Corporate 
System 

LCRCA Merseytravel   

Internet Monitoring X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Application Control X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Vessel Maintenance     X  Not yet commenced Moderate 

Facilities Services Contract X      Commenced Moderate 

Wallasey Stores X      Commenced Moderate 

Term Maintenance Contract X      Completed Moderate 

Street Furniture Contract     X  Final Report Issued Moderate 

Asset Register  X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Service / Maintenance Contracts X      Final Report Issued Major 

Tenancies X      Commenced Moderate 

Waste Management Contract X      Completed Moderate 

Building Security X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Tunnel Strategy X      Withdrawn Moderate 

Frameworks X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Bus Services - Contracts     X  Commenced Major 

Provider Failure     X  Draft Report Issued Moderate 

Bus Services - Development     X  Commenced Moderate 

Supported Services - Dynamic Purchasing      X  Not yet commenced Moderate 

Alternative Delivery Models     X  Not yet commenced Moderate 

Bus Ancillary Contracts     X  Not yet commenced Moderate 

Beatles Story - Admissions     X  Draft Report Issued Moderate 

Business Continuity  X     Early scoping 
discussion held 

Moderate 

Fast Tag Account Management X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Ancillary Income and Debt Recovery X      Draft Report Issued Moderate 

Ticketing     X  Commenced Moderate 

P
age 30



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 20 
 

Audit Title Entity Status Risk Level 

Corporate 
System 

LCRCA Merseytravel   

Mersey Ferries - Governance (MF Programme Board)     X  Commenced Moderate 

Mersey Ferries - New Vessel     X  Withdrawn Moderate 

Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation     X  Not yet commenced Moderate 

Tunnels Toll Recording and Reconciliation X      Commenced Moderate 

Catering Concession – Contract Management     X  Completed Moderate 

Electric Vehicle Charging Points     X  Withdrawn Moderate 

Rail Concession Agreements Annual Assessment - 
Merseyrail and LSP 

    X  Not yet commenced Moderate 

NNLNNG - Maghull     X  Not yet commenced Moderate 

Efficient Operator Review     X  Not yet commenced Moderate 

Operator of Last Resort     X  Not yet commenced Moderate 

Special Rail Grant     X  Commenced Moderate 

Debtors X      Not yet commenced Major 

Main Accounting System  X      Not yet commenced Major 

Creditors and Cheque Control X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Treasury Management X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Carbon Reduction Commitment X      Completed Moderate 

Budget Monitoring  X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Cashiers X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Capital Programme X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Concessionary and Prepaid Travel     X  Not yet commenced Moderate 

Risk Management X      Not yet commenced Major 

Democratic Services X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Insurance X      Withdrawn Moderate 

Extensions to Contract X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

Variations to Contract X      Not yet commenced Moderate 

P
age 31



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 21 
 

Audit Title Entity Status Risk Level 

Corporate 
System 

LCRCA Merseytravel   

Commissioning X      Commenced Moderate 

Procurement  X      Commenced Moderate 

Annual Governance Statement Review 2019-20     X  Not yet commenced Moderate 

  

P
age 32



 
 

Internal Audit Performance - LCRCA Page | 22 
 

Appendix B: Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority 
Levels 
 
 

Organisational Risk Opinions 
 

Recommendation Priority Levels 

 

Major 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a major impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Moderate 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a moderate impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Minor 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a minor impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Negligible 
No risks were identified within the review. 
  

 

 

High 
The recommendation is essential to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Medium  
The recommendation is important to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Advisory  
The recommendation is a suggestion intended to enhance the 
existing management of risk within the area under review. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Combined Authority 

Audit and Governance Committee 
  
Meeting:  2 October 2019 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  Combined Authority/All Districts 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in respect of the system of 

corporate risk management and the activity that has been undertaken in embedding 
this system during the second quarter of 2019-20.  This encompasses presenting 
the refreshed Corporate Risk Register for noting. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
  

(a) Notes the progress made in embedding the system of corporate risk 
management into the organisation; and 

 
(b) Notes the refreshed Corporate Risk Register. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the key activities undertaken so as to embed the 
system of corporate risk management.  The report highlights the following key 
points: 
 

 the developments in respect of the Corporate Risk Register, presenting the 

refreshed Corporate Risk Register for noting by the Committee 

 articulating the organisation’s risk appetite 

 development of Service Risks 

 the plans to embed risk management further into the organisation.  

 
 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.4 Information Technology 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
  

The implementation of an effective system of corporate and service risk 
management will support LCRCA in the delivery of its objectives, by identifying 
threats which may jeopardise their achievement.  The contents of this report give a 
narrative on the progress being made to establish and maintain such a system. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 The organisation has made positive progress in embedding a more robust and 

effective system for the management of risk.  Chief among the developments in the 
period is the refresh of the Corporate Risk Register by Directors, and beginning the 
conversation on articulating the risk appetite for the organisation. 

Page 36



 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

Contact Officer(s): 

Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit   tel: 0151 330 1764 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 - Risk Management Update  
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 

 

 
Audit and Governance Committee 

2 October 2019 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 
 

P
age 39



  
 

 

Risk Management Update Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 

    
Page 

  
1. Introduction       2    
 
2. Corporate Risk Register     3   
    
3. Risk Appetite       5 
 
4. Service Risk       6 
                
5. Embedding Effective Risk Management    7   
 
 
 
 

   

 
 
           
  

P
age 40



  
 

 

Risk Management Update Page | 2 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of risk management activity for the second quarter of 2019-20. 
 

1.2 It is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee and its purpose is to facilitate the Committee in discharging its 

obligations as defined in its Terms of Reference: “to review the Combined Authority’s financial affairs, internal control, 

corporate governance arrangements and risk management”.  It is also intended to assist in continuing the progress made to 

date in embedding effective strategic and operational risk management into the organisation. 

 

1.3 The report covers: 

 

 the developments in respect of the Corporate Risk Register and its review 

 articulation of the organisation’s risk appetite 

 development of Service Risks 

 the plans to embed risk management further into the organisation.  

  

P
age 41



  
 

 

Risk Management Update Page | 3 
 

2. Corporate Risk Register  
 

2.1 Following the acknowledgement that the Corporate Risk Register needed to be reviewed so as to provide a strategic focus, 

sessions were held during 2018-19 with Directors to review and update the Risk Register. This resulted in a single Corporate 

Risk Register at the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) level, and a Merseytravel Risk Register that reflects 

those risks specific to the achievement of the Transport Priorities detailed in the Corporate Plan.  The Corporate Risk 

Register was presented to this Committee at its meeting on 20 March 2019. 

2.2 Since then, the Corporate Risk Register has been reviewed by Directors again so as to ascertain that: 

 The risks identified are still pertinent and the risk details and consequences still accurate 

 The control measures are still in place and working, and reflect any new or additional controls that have been 

implemented 

 The risk scoring identified is still considered an accurate representation 

 The actions identified are still the right ones, and progress is being made 

 Any new or emerging risks are captured 

 Risks that are reducing in score are identified and de-escalated to service risk registers as necessary. 

 

2.3 The results of this review was the revision of scores of two risks: five and six.  Risk five relates to the impact of uncertainty 

regarding Brexit, and although the organisation is undertaking preparations, the ongoing political uncertainty regarding the 

issue, and the increasing likelihood of leaving without a deal means that the likelihood score has increased from 3 to 4, 

increasing the overall residual risk score from 15 to 20.  On a more positive note, risk 6, which relates to the need to develop 

an appropriate Spatial Framework, has decreased its likelihood score, as a paper on the engagement proposals for the 

Spatial  Development Strategy has now been produced and will be presented to the meeting of the Combined Authority (date 

to be confirmed at the time of writing).  This has resulted in a decrease in the likelihood score from 4 to 3, making the 

residual risk score 15.  

P
age 42



  
 

 

Risk Management Update Page | 4 
 

  

2.4 The Corporate Risk Register is shown at Appendix A.  It is worthy of note that the Transport risks are a subset of the LCRCA 

Corporate Risk Register, concentrating on risks that are specific to the achievement of the Transport Priorities.  Therefore, 

overarching risks that apply to both organisations are shown on the LCRCA Corporate Risk Register.   

  

P
age 43



  
 

 

Risk Management Update Page | 5 
 

3.  Risk Appetite 
 

3.1 One of the key developments in the period was the start of a corporate conversation regarding risk appetite.  There has been 

an acknowledgement that the articulation of risk appetite would be positive in optimising delivery of the organisation’s 

objectives as set out in its Corporate Plan.   

3.2 Risk appetite can be explained as the level and nature of risk that the organisation is willing to take in order to achieve its 

objectives.  Defining and articulating a risk appetite for the organisation is a positive step in moving the organisation towards 

using risk awareness as an enabler to the achievement of objectives.  It should also give employees confidence in taking, or 

the right risks (and not taking the wrong ones) within a framework of control and appropriate governance. 

3.3 The objective of defining and articulating risk appetite should culminate in a series of risk appetite statements, which explain 

how the organisation approaches and views as the amount of risk it would be willing to take in respect of a number of 

defined categories of risk.   

3.4 The conversation regarding risk appetite commenced at the Directors meeting on 24 June, at which a paper was presented 

so as to begin to explore the issues.  

3.5 It was agreed at the meeting that officers would feed back their views and the result of this was that a session to consider 

the issue has been scheduled for mid-October.  Following this meeting, a further report will be taken a future meeting of 

Directors so as to continue to develop and define the risk appetite.  

3.6 This Committee will be kept updated of the progress being made in respect of this aspect of the Risk Management 

framework. 

  

P
age 44



  
 

 

Risk Management Update Page | 6 
 

4. Service Risk 
  

4.1 Each Head of Service maintains a risk register that identifies those risks to the achievement of the Priorities  (identified in the 
Corporate Plan 2019-20) that have a residual risk score of 15 and below.  These risks are captured within the MK Insight 
system, which enables risk owners to review and update their risks in a live environment. 

 
4.2 Now that the refreshed Corporate Risk Register has been compiled, an extensive exercise is underway to review and update 

the Service Risks.  This will ensure that there is clarity regarding the level and ownership of risks, and ensures that there is 
no duplication of risks held at service level and those at corporate level. 

 
4.3 Progress in relation to establishing the Service Risk Registers has been rather slow, and a number of returns are still 

awaited.  Once more have been returned, the consolidated Risk Registers can be considered within Departmental 
Management team meetings, so that the content can be agreed and a programme of review and updated can begin. 

 
 
  

P
age 45



  
 

 

Risk Management Update Page | 7 
 

5. Embedding Effective Risk Management 
 
5.1 In embedding a system of effective risk management into the organisation, it is important that the progress made to date 
 continues. 
 
5.2 The revised Risk Management Policy, approved by this Committee on 20 March 2019 and Merseytravel on 24 June 2019, 

provides a clear steer in how the system should develop and become embedded by outlining the roles and responsibilities of 
the key players in the system.  It is important that such roles are understood and followed.  It is also important that the role of 
this Committee as a monitoring and review mechanism continues to be exercised effectively.   

 
5.3 A key element of this is that the Senior Leadership Team drives and owns the process of risk management and most 

importantly, uses this to inform decision-making.  This will ensure that management of risk contributes positively to the 
improvement of the control framework and keeps risk under control as far as possible, so facilitating the achievement of the 
organisation’s objectives.  It is positive that the Directors have engaged with this process and have used the Corporate 
Performance and Delivery Group effectively as a forum for the discussion of risk matters and the update of the risk register. 
As well as facilitating delivery of the organisation’s objectives, positive developments in the system of risk management wil l 
also lead to a more favourable value for money conclusion in the external auditor’s Annual Audit Letter. 

 
5.4 In facilitating this system, Internal Audit continues to play a vital role.  Key strands of activity in the period has been: 
  

 Giving a presentation to Heads of Service on the key aspects of the Risk Management Policy, highlighting their roles 
and responsibilities in managing risk. 

 Adoption of a fully risk-based internal audit methodology via the Internal Audit Plan 2019-20, highlighting risks within 
the work undertaken, establishing a better synergy between risk registers and audit work. 

 Facilitating the review and update of the Merseytravel and LCRCA Risk Registers via the Corporate Performance and 
Delivery Group  

 Facilitating the review of service risks by Heads of Service 

 Providing corporate support in respect of risk management across the organisation 

P
age 46



  
 

 

Risk Management Update Page | 8 
 

 Facilitating the development of the risk appetite for the organisation via the Corporate Performance and Delivery 
Group. 
 

5.5 The quarterly reports to this Committee will continue to give a full overview of the progress being made in delivering the 
activities above, and the effectiveness of these actions in increasing the level to which effective risk management 
arrangements are embedded into the organisation. 

 
 

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Risk Register: Liverpool City Region Combined Authority

Date of Review: September 2019

Corporate

/Service Objective 

Jeopardised

Risk Description Consequences of Risk Materialising Risk Owner (post 

title)

Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score

Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score

1 All Failure to achieve the required 

outputs associated with prioritising 

and managing the resources and 

responsibilities associated with the 

City Region’s devolution deal.

Inability to deliver Devolution Deal

Loss of devolved powers

Opportunities for growth compromised

Withdrawal of Constituent member

Director of 

Investment and 

Commercial 

Development

5 5 25 Corporate Plan

Performance Management

PMO Capacity

Commercial and Investment expertise

Budget recognises delivery as a priority

5 4 20

2 All Lack of sustainable funding 

mechanism to support the 

achievement of Mayoral priorities, 

maintain capacity and resilience 

and manage the external funding 

portfolio associated with the City 

Region’s devolution deal.

Inability to deliver Devolution Deal

Loss of devolved powers

Opportunities for growth compromised

Director of 

Corporate Services

5 5 25 Transitional funding package 2018/19

Mayoral Capacity grant

CIPFA study on sustainable funding

Budget process 2019/20 and beyond

Role of Scrutiny

5 3 15

3 All Inability to collaborate effectively 

with constituent Local Authorities, 

and with other key partners – 

including residents and businesses 

– to identify City Region priorities 

and determine the most effective 

mechanisms for delivering these 

priorities.

Inability to deliver targets, outputs and outcomes

Reputational damage

Inability to deliver Devolution Deal

Loss of devolved powers

Withdrawal of Constituent member

Director of 

Corporate 

Development and 

Delivery

5 4 20 Strategic involvement of constituent Local Authorities

Role of portfolio holders and deputy portfolio holders

Collaboration on key strategies

FASJAB

Formal consultation mechanism for TUs

5 3 15

4 All Failure to maintain a strong and 

effective governance framework 

that promotes a delivery-focused  

culture that puts the requirements 

of the City Region first.

Failure to engage effectively with member organisations

Ineffective allocation of resources

Inability to deliver Devolution Deal

Loss of devolved powers

Corruption and illegality

Ill informed decision making

Reputational damage

Increased complaints

Inability to work with partners and stakeholders if lack of confidence in 

governance arrangements

Inability to demonstrate effective governance

Failure to deliver targets, outputs and outcomes

Implications for employee wellbeing, morale, turnover and absence levels

Legal action and associated costs, penalties and fines

Insurance claims

Director of 

Corporate Services

5 4 20 Revised Constitution

Code of Corporate Governance

Assurance Framework

Financial Regulations

Internal Audit Plan

Increased capacity in Internal Audit

Risk Management arrangements

Performance management arrangements

Corporate Plan

5 3 15

Inherent Risk Scoring Residual Risk ScoringRef. Control Measures in OperationRisk Details

P
age 49



Corporate

/Service Objective 

Jeopardised

Risk Description Consequences of Risk Materialising Risk Owner (post 

title)

Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score

Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score

Inherent Risk Scoring Residual Risk ScoringRef. Control Measures in OperationRisk Details

5 All Failure to effectively identify and 

address the impact of political, 

social and economic uncertainties, 

in particular those associated with 

future arrangements for exiting the 

EU.

Loss of structural funds

Skills shortages

Relocation of key businesses and employers

Disruption and damage to LCRCA initiatives

Failure to achieve outcomes in business growth

Director of 

Investment and 

Commercial 

Development

5 4 20 Investment Strategy

Assurance Framework

Strategic Investment Fund

LCR Working Group

Increased financial support for small/medium sized enterprises (SMEs)

5 4 20

6 Economy

Housing

Environment

Culture & Tourism

Failure to establish an appropriate 

Spatial Framework to support and 

enable LCRCA's growth ambitions

Misalignment of Local Plans

Inability to deliver housing targets and growth in homelessness

Inability to promote economic growth

Reputational damage

Director of Policy 

and Strategic 

Commissioning

5 5 25 Dedicated capacity for Spatial Plan in place

Paper to be presented to CA on the engagement proposals for the 

Spatial Development Strategy

5 3 15

7 Environment Failure to maximise LCRCA's 

opportunities to have a positive 

impact on air quality and to 

improve air quality across the City 

Region.

Impacts on health, wellbeing and environmental outcomes

Loss of future funding streams

Director of Policy 

and Strategic 

Commissioning

5 5 25 Consideration as part of policy and strategy

Monitoring of air quality on transport network

5 3 15

8 All Failure to prevent, plan and 

respond to major incidents 

impacting on transport networks, 

and in particular failure to maintain 

robust systems and procedures in 

respect of our own transport 

assets.

Deaths and serious injuries

Loss of connectivity

Implications for reputation and confidence

Legal issues – e.g. .corporate manslaughter

Disruptions to network

Unavailability of key systems and operational disruption

Lost revenue

Injury and claims arising.

Temporary (and maybe permanent) removal of service to address risk

HSE investigation and fines

Staff absence

Increased complaints.

Criticism/negative media coverage

Recovery costs

Increased insurance premiums

Director of 

Integrated 

Transport

5 5 25 Asset Management Plan

Mersey Tunnels capital programme

Resilience arrangements in place and tested

Control Centre co-ordination

Renewal of Rolling Stock Fleet

Investment in Mersey Ferries vessels

5 3 15

9 All Information Governance breach or 

cyber attack

Data loss

Remediation costs

Regulator fines

Implications for reputation and confidence

Unavailability of key systems and operational disruption

Ill informed decision making.

Systems compromised, resulting in internal and external threats: Viral, Denial 

Of Service attack, Data Integrity (different levels of data: Financial, personal, 

commercial, operational) [Theft of data, Deletion of data and Data corruption], 

Disruptive attack and Privilege escalation.

Litigation and cost of claims.

Increased complaints.

Inability to work with partners and stakeholders if lack of confidence in integrity 

of systems.

Director of 

Corporate 

Development and 

Delivery

5 5 25  Information Management Group 

Senior Information Management Officer 

 Information Sharing Protocol 

 Information Management Policy Framework 

Information System Security Arrangements 

Staff Identified and Trained

Senior Information Risk Owner  

ICT Strategy 

Policy - Data Protection Policy 

 Resilience and Recovery Arrangements  

ICT Security Protocol 

Monitoring of Performance  

 External Assessment 

 Internal Policies and Procedures 

 Code of Conduct for Employees 

 PCI Compliance Arrangements 

Acceptable Use Policy 

Business Continuity Arrangements  

5 3 15

P
age 50



Corporate

/Service Objective 

Jeopardised

Risk Description Consequences of Risk Materialising Risk Owner (post 

title)

Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score

Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score

Inherent Risk Scoring Residual Risk ScoringRef. Control Measures in OperationRisk Details

10 Good quality and 

affordable housing

Due to the nature of the direct 

client facing delivery taking place 

on the Housing First programme, 

and its pilot status, there are a 

number of risks related to the 

project that combined make it an 

organisational risk. These include:

1. No/reduced Housing Supply 

2. Serious incident within the 

service 

3. Current lack of clarity on re-

profile of spend/Unable to spend 

out of year   

4. Unknowns of delivery 

1. Unable to deliver Housing First, or significantly reduced capacity to deliver.

2. Harm to person including death. Adverse public reaction/reputational 

damage.

3. Unable to commision further delivery and meet target projections.  

4. Inability to sufficiently plan and mitigate risks as the CA, and organisations 

in the LCR have never delivered Housing First. 

Director of Policy 

and Strategic 

Commisioning

5 4 20 1. Commitment from 16 Housing Associations to provide Housing. 

2. On call system, lone working protection, robust safguarding training 

and procedures, links to police, mental health and NHS. 

3. Commitment is over the spending review period, and good working 

relationships with MHCLG. Committment to HF from Secretary of State.

4. Comprehensive project risk register held by Project Board and HF 

Steering Group and regularly reviewed. Expertise in the team include 

staff who have delivered homelessness services, including HF so 

experience of potential risks are highlighted as much as possible. 

5 3 15

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Combined Authority 

Audit and Governance Committee 
  
Meeting:  2 October 2019 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  Combined Authority/All Districts 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

COUNTER-FRAUD UPDATE 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in respect of managing the risk of 

fraud and corruption in the organisation.  It details the activity that has been 
undertaken developing the organisation’s approach to managing this risk, and the 
activities planned and in progress by Internal Audit to support this. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
  

(a) Notes the report.  
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the key activities undertaken in relation to managing 
the risk of fraud.  The report highlights the following key points: 

 Background detailing relevant offences and the role of internal audit in fraud 

matters; 

 Detail on the recently updated self-assessment exercise on CIPFA’s Code of 

Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption in Local Government 

(2015); 

 Update on the proactive counter-fraud work undertaken by internal audit; 

 Update on reactive counter-fraud work undertaken by internal audit; and 

 Details on how an anti-fraud culture is being embedded into the organisation; 

The report concludes by presenting the updated Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 

Policy for the approval of this Committee. 

 
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.4 Information Technology 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
  

The risk of fraud and corruption is present in any organisation, and it is important 
that the organisation is clear about the level of this risk, and that a range of actions 
is put in place to reduce this risk to a tolerable level.  This report outlines these 
issues and how the organisation, supported by Internal Audit, can ensure the 
continued development of a counter-fraud environment. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 The organisation has made positive progress in embedding an anti-fraud culture 

and a robust and effective system for the management of the risk of fraud, bribery 
and corruption.   

Page 54



 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

Contact Officer(s): 

Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit   tel: 0151 330 1764 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 - Risk Management Update  
Appendix 2 – Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

COUNTER-FRAUD UPDATE 
 

 

 
Audit and Governance Committee 

2 October 2019 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 
 

P
age 57



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 1 
 
 

Contents 
 

    
Page 

  
1. Introduction       2    
 
2. Background       3   
    
3. Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption  6 
 
4. Proactive Fraud Work     9 
                
5. Reactive Fraud Work      11 
 
6. Embedding an Anti-Fraud Culture    12 
 
7. Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy   16 
 
      
 
 
 

   

  

P
age 58



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 2 
 
 

 
           

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a detailed update on activity and plans in place to manage the risk of fraud and 
corruption in the organisation. It supplements the details provided in the Internal Audit Performance Reports presented to 
each meeting of this Committee. 

 
1.2 It is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee and its purpose is to facilitate the Committee in discharging its 

obligations as defined in its Terms of Reference: “to review the Combined Authority’s financial affairs, internal control, 

corporate governance arrangements and risk management”.  It is intended to assist in continuing the progress made to date 

in embedding an anti-fraud culture into the organisation. 

 

1.3 The report covers: 

 Background detailing relevant offences and the role of internal audit in fraud matters; 

 Detail on the recently updated self-assessment exercise on CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud 

and Corruption in Local Government (2015); 

 Update on the proactive counter-fraud work undertaken by internal audit; 

 Update on reactive counter-fraud work undertaken by internal audit; and 

 Details on how an anti-fraud culture is being embedded into the organisation; 

1.4 The report concludes by presenting the updated Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy for the approval of this Committee. 

  

P
age 59



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 3 
 
 

2. Background  
 

2.1 Defining Fraud and Corruption Offences 

2.1.1 Section 1 of the Fraud Act 2006 defined a general offence of fraud and three ways in which it may be committed: 
 

 Fraud by false representation; 

 Fraud by failing to disclose information; and 

 Fraud by abuse of position.  
 
Fraud by false representation requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and  

 The person makes the representation knowing that it is or might be false or misleading.  
 
Fraud by failing to disclose information requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and 

 Failure to disclose information where there is a legal duty to disclose.  
 
Fraud by abuse of position requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and  

 Abuse of a position where one is expected to safeguard another person’s financial interests. 

P
age 60



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 4 
 
 

 
2.1.2 The Bribery Act 2010 has defined the following offences that collectively may be termed “corruption”: 
 

 Offering, promising or giving a bribe; 

 Requesting or agreeing to receive a bribe; 

 Bribery of a foreign public official; and  

 The corporate offense of failing to prevent a bribe. 
 

It is worthy of note that the legislation states that it will be a defence against the corporate offence if an organisation has 
“adequate procedures” in place to prevent bribery.  
 

2.2 Public Sector Statistics 

2.2.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Counter Fraud Centre (CFC) estimates that fraud and 
corruption costs the UK public sector over £20.5 billion annually, and identifies the main areas of fraud within the sector.  
Within those areas, the following are of relevance to the LCRCA: 

 Procurement; 

 Debt; 

 Insurance claims; 

 Economic and voluntary sector (grant fraud); 

 Recruitment; 

 Insider fraud – payroll / expenses/ abuse of work time or position. 
 
 
2.3 Role of Internal Audit 
 
2.3.1 The role of Internal Audit in respect of counter-fraud is to: 
 

P
age 61



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 5 
 
 

 Prepare and maintain a suite of relevant counter-fraud policies for the organisation; 

 Promote an anti-fraud culture by raising awareness of fraud issues amongst officers and members, including through the 
provision of counter-fraud training; 

 Facilitate the identification of fraud risks and the subsequent management of these through service delivery areas; 

 Undertake proactive audit work to prevent and detect fraud, including the review of fraud controls (where relevant) in each 
audit review; and 

 Undertake the investigation of frauds perpetrated against the organisation or emanating from within the organisation, 
where this is deemed appropriate, including the subsequent reporting of findings, conclusions and recommendations to 
senior management. 

 
The Head of Internal Audit is also the designated Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO), which entails acting as the 
main contact for receiving reports of suspected money laundering, and carrying out the associated reporting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
   
  

P
age 62



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 6 
 
 

3.  Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption  
 

3.1 CIPFA published the Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption in Local Government in 2014. The 
Code is not mandatory but it represents best practice, and compliance with the principles set out in the Code enables the 
organisation to demonstrate effective financial stewardship of public funds. 

 
3.2 The Code has established a common set of principles for managing the risk of fraud and corruption.  
 
3.3 The principles are: 

 Acknowledge the responsibility for countering fraud and corruption; 

 Identify the fraud and corruption risks; 

 Develop an appropriate counter fraud and corruption strategy; 

 Provide resources to implement the strategy; and 

 Take action in response to fraud and corruption. 
 
3.4 Beneath each of these principles, there is a number of performance statements that are used to evaluate the effectiveness 

of the organisation in managing the risk of fraud and corruption.  The document takes the form of a self-assessment that 
examines all aspects of the organisation’s strategic focus on and response to, the risk of fraud and corruption. 

 
3.5 The self-assessment has now been fully refreshed to reflect the broadening remit of the organisation, and the new areas of 

fraud risk that may present themselves as a result of the activities of the LCRCA. 
 

3.6 The self-assessment indicated 85% compliance with its requirements.  This is a reduction in the level of compliance from 
2017-18, when it was assessed that there was full compliance with the Code, as all actions were deemed to have been 
implemented.  This more prudent assessment is reflective of the work required to encapsulate the CA’s arrangements within 
the Counter Fraud policy environment and the need to expand and develop the effectiveness of fraud risk management.   

P
age 63



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 7 
 
 

3.7 The actions arising from the self-assessment are detailed in the following table:  
Ref Action Implementation 

Due Date 
Comments 

1 Update Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy and Strategy so as to include all 
relevant areas of the Code of Practice.  Report this to Audit and Governance 
Committee and Merseytravel for approval and then publish to all staff via I4P. 

October 2019 This report addresses this action. 

2 Consider adding responsibilities for managing the risk of Fraud and Corruption 
to the Scheme of Delegation. 

March 2020   

3 Participate in International Fraud Awareness week in November 2019. November 2019   

4 Deliver e-learning fraud awareness training to all staff, and monitor the take-up 
levels. 

March 2020 e-learning available from June 
2019 

5 Report to LCRCA re adoption of the Code of Practice and associated actions. October 2019 This report addresses this action. 

6 Review MRFG benchmarking exercise and participate as appropriate.  Explore 
opportunities to benchmark or undertake joint working with other Mayoral 
Combined Authorities. 

March 2020  Initial discussions taking place. 

7 Consider running Fraud Risk Workshops within Departments, especially those 
where fraud risks have been identified as most significant. 

March 2020   

8 Review Fraud Risk Register and include actions to address fraud risks.  
Establish regime of regular updates, including consideration of any new or 
emerging fraud and corruption risks. 

October 2019 Review in progress as part of 
update of Service Risk Registers. 

9 Introduce fraud risks to Risk Module on MKinsight. October 2019 To be completed as part of the 
update of Service Risk Registers, 
which is underway. 

10 Consider inclusion of financial loss estimates in relation to fraud risks. March 2020   

11 Provide annual report on counter-fraud activity, including measuring progress 
against the Code of Practice self-assessment. 

October 2019 This report addresses this action. 

Table 1 

P
age 64



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 8 
 
 

3.8 However, such a level of compliance is still very positive and reflects the proportionate arrangements in place to manage the 
risk of fraud.  This Committee will be kept appraised of the implementation of the actions identified as a result of the self-
assessment. 

 

 
  

P
age 65



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 9 
 
 

4.  Proactive Fraud Work 
 
4.1 Internal Audit Plan 
 
4.1.1 The Internal Audit Plan 2019-20 includes 25 days for proactive counter-fraud work across both the Combined Authority and 

Merseytravel.  It is also of note that key anti-fraud controls are also evaluated as part of a significant number of other audits 
within the Plan.   

 
4.1.2 The Plan includes the following areas of focus: 
  

Audit Title Audit Days Progress Report 

Gifts and Hospitality 5 Audit not commenced 

Conflicts of Interest 4 Audit not commenced 

Creditors Duplicate Payments 2.5 Handover arrangements to the Creditors team are in progress 

Insurance Claims 5 Audit commenced 

Payroll/ Establishment Reconciliation 1.5 Handover arrangements to the HR team are in progress 

Corporate Credit Card 2 Audit not commenced 

Time and Attendance 5 Audit commenced 

 
 
4.2 National Fraud Initiative 

 
4.2.1 Internal Audit oversees and co-ordinates the organisation’s involvement in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI). This is a 

national exercise, and it is a requirement that the organisation participates. The main NFI data matching is undertaken every 
two years, the results of these matches is fed into a national report at the end of each cycle.  

 

P
age 66



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 10 
 
 

4.2.2 Data from the Payroll and Creditors systems are uploaded to the dedicated Cabinet Office website, and are matched with 
data within and between participating bodies so as to identify potential frauds and errors. On receipt of the results, the 
organisation has responsibility to follow up and investigate the matches.  

 

4.2.3 Data for this cycle was uploaded during October 2018 in accordance with the NFI timetable, and matches were received in 
late January 2019.   

 
4.2.4 Progress in reviewing the matches received has been positive, and it is also positive to say that the matches investigated to 

date had already been detected by management processes.  There is further work to do and once this is concluded, the 
findings will be reported to this Committee, but it appears unlikely at this stage that there will be significant issues or savings 
identified.  One of the matches detected in the payroll – creditors match has highlighted the need for the update and re-
launch of the corporate process for declaration of interest, so that all staff are aware of the need to consider this and report 
any potential conflicts.  This has been reported to relevant officers for action. 
 

 

  

P
age 67



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 11 
 
 

5. Reactive Fraud Work 
 

5.1 There is a provision of 15 audit days in the Internal Audit Plan 2019-20 for the investigation of allegations of fraud, bribery or 
corruption. 

 
5.2 Internal Audit will become involved in the investigation of such allegations where the allegation requires the specialist skills 

possessed by the service.  Such work can entail examination of key records, interviewing staff to obtain information, and 
evaluation of evidence, culminating in the production of a report for management giving recommendations that detail actions 
to address issues identified.  Such reports will conclude on whether, on the basis of the work undertaken, the allegation is 
believed to be founded or not.  The report will often also include details of improvements to the system of internal control 
more widely, so as to strengthen the anti-fraud controls in place.   

 
5.3 During 2019-20 to date, there has not been any significant referrals made to Internal Audit.  The only time that has been 

spent has been in the conclusion of an investigation into the Mersey Rural Leader grant, the work having commenced in 
2018-19.  It has been reported to this Committee previously that the outcome of the investigation was that there was no 
evidence of fraud, but there was a number of recommendations made to management to improve the controls in a number of 
areas. 

 

5.4 It is also a requirement of the Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy that Internal Audit is notified of any frauds detected within 
the organisation. 

 
  

 
 
 
  

P
age 68



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 12 
 
 

6. Embedding an Anti-Fraud Culture 
 
6.1 Fraud Risks 
 
6.1.1 A Fraud Risk Register was prepared in the past for Merseytravel, and this contained specific transport-related fraud risks.  

However, the risks identified had not been placed under the “ownership” of Heads of Service, so the Risk Register did not 
highlight the specific actions to be taken in respect of each risk, and so there was no reflection of how the risks were being 
managed.  In addition, by being held by Internal Audit, the Register gave the impression that it is the responsibility of Internal 
Audit to manage the risks. 

 
6.1.2 So as to make the identification and management of fraud risk more effective, by bringing this under the direct attention of 

Heads of Service, an exercise is underway to review and update the identified fraud risks.  Rather than a single set of fraud 
risks being held centrally, each Head of Service will have relevant fraud risks contained within their Service Risk Register.  
This is so that they can evaluate the risk for their service, look at how the risk is being managed within the context of their 
service, and propose actions for the continued management of the impact and/or likelihood of each risk. 

 
6.1.3 The risks that had been identified are now in the process of being fully updated, and a number of new risks have also been 

added, to ensure that the risks reflect LCRCA activities.   
 
6.1.4 The risks under consideration are: 
  

Generic risks – which would apply to most organisations: 

 Cyber 

 Tangible assets 

 Bribery 

 Procurement  

 Creditors 

P
age 69



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 13 
 
 

 Debtors  

 Treasury Management 

 Insurance  

 False Accounting 

 Money Laundering 

 Payroll  

 Recruitment  

 

Specific risks – which relate to the activities of this organisation: 

 Misuse of grant funding 

 Improper use of powers 

 Adult education provider, falsification of records  

 Concessionary travel 

 Ticketing 

 
6.2 Engagement with Fraud Groups 
 
6.2.1 Internal Audit participates in the Mersey Region Fraud Group, which is comprised of the constituent local authorities within 

the LCRCA area.  The group is developing a regional approach to counter fraud, including the production of generic policies 
and procedures and undertaking collaborative working in targeted areas, such as data matching and other counter fraud 
exercises. 

 
6.2.2 Internal Audit also contributes to the North West Chief Audit Executives Counter-Fraud Sub Group, which develops practical 

solutions to mitigate current and emerging fraud risks and responds to sector-related change and challenges. 
 

P
age 70



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 14 
 
 

6.2.3 As both of these Groups comprise local authorities, which have a different range of services and associated fraud risks, 
there can be limited applicability to the LCRCA of some of the activities being undertaken.  For this reason, it is hoped that 
some information sharing and potential future collaborative work with other Mayoral Combined Authorities can be explored in 
the months ahead, and initial discussions of this have begun. 

 
6.3 Training and Awareness 
 
6.3.1 In June 2019, an e-learning package on Fraud Awareness was developed and launched to all staff.  The package is a basic 

introduction, and covers fraud, bribery, corruption and money laundering, and the key actions employees should take to 
prevent and detect fraud in their areas of responsibility. To date, a very small number of employees have undertaken the 
training, and the next step is to carry out direct follow up work with Departments to boost the take-up rates. Consideration is 
also being given to offering fraud workshops for staff working in higher risk areas. 

 
6.3.2 A fraud awareness campaign is planned to be undertaken in November 2019, to coincide with International Fraud 

Awareness Week.  The aim of the week is to heighten the awareness of the scale of fraud in the public sector, to direct all 
employees to complete the Fraud Awareness e-learning course (as highlighted in 5.2.1 above) and to encourage them to 
report any suspicions of fraud that they may have. This will also coincide with the proposed launch of the Fraud, Bribery and 
Corruption Policy, which is appended to this report, and will see a series of fraud awareness messaging being published on 
the Intranet.   

 
6.4 Policy Framework 
 
6.4.1 Internal Audit has responsibility for maintaining the organisation’s counter-fraud policies.  These form an important part of the 

management of fraud risk by setting the tone, culture and expectations of the organisation. 
 
6.4.2 The policies in place comprise: 

 Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy – this has been fully updated and is presented for approval by this Committee;  

 Bribery Policy – this was updated and was approved by this Committee at its meeting on 20 March 2019; 

P
age 71



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 15 
 
 

 Money Laundering Policy – this was updated and was approved by this Committee at its meeting on 20 March 2019; 

 Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy– this was updated and was approved by this Committee at its meeting 
on 20 March 2019; 

 Surveillance Policy – this was updated and was approved by this Committee at its meeting on 20 March 2019; and 

 Investigations Protocol – this was updated and was approved by this Committee at its meeting on 20 March 2019 
 
6.4.3 Once each policy receives approval, it is disseminated to staff, like all policies across the organisation, via the 

Insight4Policies (“I4P”) system, which requires staff to read and acknowledge understanding of the policy.  
Acknowledgement levels of the policies issued is at 75%, which is a very positive level.  Follow up work is ongoing with 
Departments, and will also feature as part of Fraud Awareness Week, to remind all staff to read and acknowledge the 
policies. 

 
6.4.4 During the year to date, there have been no reports made to Internal Audit under any of these policies. It is important that the 

profile of such policies is raised so that staff feel confident and comfortable in making any reports they deem necessary, and 
that they are aware of their responsibilities in doing so.  An absence of reports under the policies could indicate a lack of 
awareness of confidence in these matters.  Ongoing work to promote the policies and ensure staff awareness and basic 
training in fraud matters should secure a more positive culture where staff feel able to report any issues concerning them. 

 
  

P
age 72



  
 

Counter-Fraud Update Page | 16 
 
 

7. Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy 
 

7.1 The Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy identifies the organisation’s commitment to an effective approach to managing the 
risk of fraud, bribery and corruption, as part of its overall governance arrangements. The Policy sets out the organisation’s 
stance on fraud, bribery and corruption, and identifies the range of measures at the disposal of the organisation in the 
prevention and detection of fraud. 

 
7.2 The Policy has been fully reviewed and updated so as to: 
 

 Enable the LCRCA to be fully integrated within the Policy and provide clear adoption of the Policy by LCRCA officers 

and members; 

 Provide clearer guidance on the roles and responsibilities of all key players in the organisation in respect of fraud, 

bribery and corruption; and 

 Reflect the recent self-assessment against the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 

Corruption (2015). 

7.3 The updated Policy is presented for the consideration and approval of this Committee. 

P
age 73



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version v2.0 

Approved By LCRCA: 
Merseytravel:  

Created Date January 2016 

Reviewed Date October 2019 

Date of Next Review October 2020 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
(LCRCA). It may not be reproduced or used for any other purpose that that for 

which it is supplied without the written permission of LCRCA. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 
 

Page 75



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Introduction 2 
 
2. Objectives 2 
 
3. Policy Statement 2 
 
4. Responsibilities 3 
 
5. Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption 5 

 
6. Appendices 

 
Appendix A – Defining Fraud Offences 11 

 
 
 
  
  
  

 
 
  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy Page | 2 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Fraud, bribery and corruption are not only damaging to the finances of the 

organisation, but they damage confidence in public services. 
 
1.2 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) is committed to ensuring 

that the risks of fraud, bribery and corruption are managed effectively, and that 
decisive action is taken where these offences are found to have been 
committed. 

 
1.3 This Policy sets out the organisation‟s approach to managing the risk of fraud, 

bribery and corruption and how an anti-fraud culture is established and 
promoted. 

 
1.4 This Policy covers all employees including agency and temporary workers, but 

also covers external individuals and organisations such as suppliers, 
contractors and customers in their dealings with the LCRCA. 

 
1.5 This Policy will be reviewed and updated on an annual basis by the Head of 

Internal Audit.  In the case of significant changes, the Policy will be presented 
for consideration to the LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee, Audit, Risk 
and Governance Board and Merseytravel.  However, as a minimum, the Policy 
will be presented for re-approval every five years. 

 
 

2. Objectives 
 
2.1 The objectives of the Policy are to: 
 

 Embed an anti-fraud culture into the organisation 

 Promote an effective framework of control and governance relating to 
fraud risk 

 Confirm the key responsibilities of officers and members in managing the 
risk of fraud 

 Demonstrate how the organisation complies with the CIPFA best practice 
guidance Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption in Local 
Government (2015). 

 

3. Policy Statement 
 
3.1 The organisation is committed to combating fraud, bribery and corruption in all 

its activities.  
 
3.2 The organisation is determined to identify any fraud, bribery and corruption 

carried out by employees who abuse their positions of trust, contractors who 
abuse their relationship or customers who try to obtain assets or services to 
which they are not entitled. 

Page 77



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy Page | 3 
 

 
3.3 The organisation expects employees to demonstrate the highest standards of 

honesty and integrity at all times. Fraud, bribery and corruption are serious 
offences and employees will face disciplinary action if there is evidence that 
they have been involved in these activities. It is also expected that external 
individuals and organisations, including suppliers, contractors and customers 
will act with honesty and integrity in their dealings with LCRCA. 

 
3.4 The organisation encourages employees to raise any concerns about fraud, 

bribery and corruption. Such concerns should be raised with the employee‟s 
manager. This depends, however, on the seriousness and sensitivity of the 
issues involved and who is suspected of the malpractice and if necessary, there 
are other ways for the employee to raise concerns. These are listed in the 
Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy, which also contains further 
guidance for potential whistleblowers. 

 
3.5 The organisation will investigate consistently any allegations or suspicions of 

fraud, bribery or corruption irrespective of whether it is perpetrated from inside 
the organisation (employees) or by external parties (suppliers, contractors or 
customers).  

 
3.6 The organisation will refer to the appropriate authorities any person who 

commits fraud, bribery or corruption against them.   This is an important way of 
deterring others from behaving in the same way. 

 
3.7 The organisation considers the abuse by employees of financial or other 

benefits from the organisation or any other public organisation as potentially 
gross misconduct. 

 
3.8 The organisation fully supports the Police and other external agencies in the 

fight against fraud, bribery and corruption within the public sector. 
 
 

4. Responsibilities 
 
Head of Paid Service  
The Head of Paid Service has overall responsibility for LCRCA‟s fraud management 
arrangements.  This involves setting the tone of the organisation so that an anti-fraud 
culture is maintained, and ensuring that the system of internal controls to manage the 
risk of fraud, bribery and corruption is effective. 
 
Directors and Heads of Service 
Directors and Heads of Service have responsibility for ensuring that there is an 
effective system of internal control in place so as to manage the risk of fraud, bribery 
and corruption in their services.   
 
 
 

Page 78



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy Page | 4 
 

Managers 
Managers have a key role in maintaining effective systems of internal control in 
respect of their areas.  They also have the responsibility of ensuring that their staff 
understand their role in behaving with honesty and integrity.  Managers should also be 
aware that they may be asked to provide advice to staff and to receive reports of 
suspicions of fraud, bribery and corruption.  Managers also need to be aware of the 
risk of fraud, bribery and corruption carried out by staff, and should understand the 
actions to take if they have such suspicions or receive reports of concerns. 
 
All Employees  
All employees have responsibility for being aware of the risks of fraud, bribery and 
corruption, and acting with integrity and honesty in their work.  They have a 
responsibility to report to management any concerns they may have. 
 
Merseytravel Meeting 
This group has overall oversight of the internal control and governance arrangements 
for Merseytravel, and has responsibility for approving its fraud, bribery and corruption 
policies. 
 
Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board 
LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee  
Both fora have responsibility for the monitoring and review of the effectiveness of 
internal control and governance arrangements and overseeing the continued 
development of these arrangements.  
 
Both fora will monitor progress in addressing any fraud related issues reported to it, 
including those identified through Internal Audit reports. 
 
Internal Audit  
The Chief Internal Auditor has a responsibility, under the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards, to review the organisation‟s arrangements for managing the risk of fraud, 
bribery and corruption, and evaluate their effectiveness in preventing and detecting 
fraud, bribery and corruption. 
 
The role of Internal Audit in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption is to: 
 

 Prepare and maintain a suite of relevant Counter-Fraud policies for the 
organisation 

 Promote an anti-fraud culture by raising awareness of fraud issues amongst 
officers and members, including through the provision of counter-fraud training. 

 Facilitate the identification of fraud risks and the subsequent management of these 
through service delivery areas 

 Undertake proactive audit work to prevent and detect fraud, including the review of 
fraud controls in each audit review (where relevant) 

 Undertake the investigation of frauds perpetrated against the organisation or 
emanating from within the organisation, where this is deemed appropriate, 
including the subsequent reporting of findings, conclusions and recommendations 
to senior management. 

Page 79



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy Page | 5 
 

The Head of Internal Audit is also the designated Money Laundering Reporting Officer 
(MLRO), which entails acting as the main contact for receiving reports of suspected 
money laundering, and carrying out the associated reporting. 

 
External Audit 
The external auditor has a responsibility, as part of their statutory duties, to ensure that 
the organisation has adequate arrangements in place for the prevention and detection 
of fraud, bribery and corruption. 
 
 

5. Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption 
 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption in Local 
Government 
 
5.1 CIPFA published the Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 

Corruption in Local Government in 2015. The Code is not mandatory but it 
represents best practice, and compliance with the principles set out in the Code 
enables the organisation to demonstrate effective financial stewardship of 
public funds. 

 
5.2 The principles are: 

 Acknowledge the responsibility for countering fraud and corruption; 

 Identify the fraud and corruption risks; 

 Develop an appropriate counter fraud and corruption strategy; 

 Provide resources to implement the strategy; and 

 Take action in response to fraud and corruption. 
 
5.3 The Head of Internal Audit undertakes a periodic self-assessment against the 

requirements of the Code of Practice. The outcomes of these assessments are 
presented to the Audit, Risk and Governance Board and Audit and Governance 
Committee, and any actions arising will be monitored through these fora. This 
process ensures that the implementation of this Policy is subject to regular 
monitoring, that the success of the Policy can be measured and that actions are 
clearly defined, with target dates of implementation and clear intended 
outcomes. 

 
5.4 In demonstrating how the organisation meets the requirements of the Code of 

Practice, the key elements of the internal control framework are set out in the 
paragraphs that follow. 

 
Corporate Policy Framework 
   
5.5 There is a comprehensive corporate policy framework in place, which details 

the requirements, considerations and key internal controls to prevent and detect 
fraud, bribery and corruption.  The key policies are: 

 

 Anti-Money Laundering Policy and procedure; 

Page 80



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy Page | 6 
 

 Anti-Bribery Policy; 

 Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy; 

 Surveillance Policy; 

 Investigations Protocol; 

 Information Management Policy Framework; 

 Standing Orders and Financial Regulations; 

 Guidelines on Cash Handling; 

 Guidance on Travel and Expenses; 

 Gifts and Hospitality Policy for Employees; 

 Code of Conduct for Employees; 

 Employee Ethics Policy; and 

 Risk Management Policy. 
 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Prevention 
 
5.6 One of the key elements of managing the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption is 

ensuring that there are preventative measures in place that make the offences 
more difficult to undertake.  Prevention seeks to establish physical, logical and 
procedural barriers to discourage fraud, bribery and corruption, by implementing 
cost-effective countermeasures to prevent or reduce the identified fraud risk: 

 

 Management at all levels within the organisation has a responsibility for the 
prevention of fraud and corruption. This is achieved by ensuring the operation 
of effective internal control systems. In addition, management is responsible for 
ensuring that their staff are aware of relevant policies and procedural 
documents, and that the requirements within these are being followed.  
 

 Officers must follow the requirements set out in the organisation‟s policies and 
any local procedures implemented by management.  This includes the 
requirements contained within the Conditions of Employment issued upon 
appointment to their role.  
 

 Internal Audit plays an important preventative role in reviewing the controls in 
place within systems to prevent fraud, bribery and corruption and making 
recommendations to management where improvements in the design of, or 
compliance with, internal controls is required. Internal Audit develops and 
delivers an annual risk-based Internal Audit Plan that gives consideration of 
fraud and corruption risk, and makes provision for the investigation of 
allegations into irregularity. The Internal Audit Plan is informed by the 
organisation‟s risk registers, which include fraud risks. 

 

 The system of internal control is the set of measures, financial and otherwise 
established in order to provide reasonable assurance of effective and efficient 
operations, reliability of internal financial control and reporting, and compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations.  The effectiveness of the system of 
internal control in preventing and detecting fraud, bribery and corruption is 
reported upon in the Annual Governance Statement.  This Statement is 

Page 81



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy Page | 7 
 

supported by the Head of Internal Audit‟s Annual Opinion, expressed in the 
Annual Report. 
 

 All the organisation‟s systems and processes should be fully documented, kept 
up to date, and made available to the staff operating those systems.  A lack of 
systems documentation reduces control and creates the opportunity for 
unacceptable practices to occur without check, inevitably weakening the 
system‟s operation.  It should be clear to all involved what the processes are to 
achieve the system‟s objectives. Documenting the system ensures that 
everybody involved is aware of the authorised process for undertaking the 
various stages of the system‟s operation. This awareness, together with the 
management authorisation of a documented system, establishes a culture of 
formality that assists the prevention of the introduction of informal changes.  
Documenting a system provides clarity of purpose and intent, both for the 
operator of a system and any interested third party. 
 

 It is a prerequisite to sound control that duties involved in financial transactions 
are as separated as possible. Financial Regulations specifically state that the 
principle of "separation of duties" should be observed in the calculating, 
checking and recording of sums payable and receivable from the duties of 
collection and disbursing of such sums; and in other obvious areas of 
susceptibility. The separation of duties principle is an important preventative 
control over fraudulent and corrupt practices. 
 

 Authorisation controls are there to ensure that approval has been granted to 
allow a particular course of action.  
 

 The Director of Corporate Services has a duty to ensure the proper 
administration of the organisation‟s financial affairs. Accordingly, Financial 
Regulations have been developed and outline the systems, procedures and 
responsibilities of employees in relation to financial activity.  These are available 
to all employees, contractors or agents via the organisation‟s intranet and 
website. 
 

 The Director of Corporate Services may, from time to time, supplement the 
Financial Regulations by other documents, such as Financial Instructions 
relating to detailed procedures.  These are considered as part of the Financial 
Regulations and have the same status and authority.  
 

 Recruitment and selection of employees is a key preventative measure in the 
fight against fraud and corruption and it is important to take effective steps at 
the recruitment stage to establish, as far as possible, the previous record of 
potential employees, in terms of propriety and integrity.  The recruitment of 
employees is therefore required to be in accordance with the organisation‟s 
Recruitment and Selection Policy.  In particular, written references are sought 
directly from referees regarding known honesty and integrity of potential 
employees before employment offers are made. 
 

Page 82



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy Page | 8 
 

 All employees should be aware of the organisation‟s Gifts and Hospitality Policy 
and associated guidance.  

 

 Employees must ensure that they avoid situations where there is a potential for 
a conflict of interest. Effective role separation ensures that decisions made are 
based upon impartial advice, so as to avoid accusations of the improper 
disclosure of confidential information.  There is a duty on employees to declare 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests by completing a Declaration of Interests 
form (if they have a declarable interest) on an annual basis.  
 

 Fraud Awareness training is provided to all employees of the organisation in the 
form of e-learning, but employees should be made aware of all fraud risks 
pertinent to their role as part of on-the-job training.  Staff are also required to 
read and acknowledge understanding of corporate policies, including those 
relating to conduct. 
 

 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Deterrence 
 
5.7  There is a range of measures in place to deter employees from engaging in 

fraud, bribery or corruption: 
 

 The organisation has a well-established and fully implemented disciplinary 
process.  It is important in maintaining an anti-fraud culture within the 
organisation, that all offences are dealt with in a consistent manner and that 
minor unethical practices are not overlooked (such as petty theft or small scale 
expenses fraud) or dealt with in a unduly lenient manner.  
 

 Where there is evidence of fraud, bribery or corruption, the matter will be 
referred to the Police for investigation, who in turn may refer the matter to the 
Crown Prosecution Service to consider prosecution. It is recognised that it may 
not always be in the public interest to refer cases for criminal proceedings. 
 

 Where fraud and corruption is proved and a financial loss has been suffered, 
the organisation will seek to recover the full value of any loss from the 
perpetrators.  This may involve civil proceedings being instigated through the 
courts. 

 

 Where appropriate, the organisation will publicise successful actions it has 
taken against fraudsters. 

 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Detection 
 
5.8 The organisation actively seeks to detect any incidents of fraud, bribery and 

corruption, to allow it to respond openly, promptly and responsibly to any 
suspected cases.  All officers, suppliers, contractors and our customers have an 
important role to play in the detection and reporting of fraud: 

 

Page 83



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy Page | 9 
 

 The organisation encourages anyone who knows or suspects any 
inappropriate behaviour to report it.  The Confidential Reporting 
(Whistleblowing) Policy provides advice and guidance on how specific matters 
of concern may be raised and aims to give employees the confidence to raise 
concerns internally.  The Policy is regularly reviewed to ensure it is compatible 
with current legislation and to assess its effectiveness.  Employees are 
expected to act responsibly when using the whistleblowing process.  If it is 
proven that an allegation is made frivolously, maliciously or for personal gain, 
this will be regarded as serious or gross misconduct. 
 

 Heads of Service must act in accordance with the Confidential Reporting 
(Whistleblowing) Policy to support any members of staff who have „blown the 
whistle‟.  They must to instigate appropriate disciplinary procedures should the 
result of any investigation identify evidence of fraud, bribery or corruption. 

 

 Budgetary control is important in identifying fraudulent activity at significant 
levels.  Heads of Service, Managers, Budget Holders and Business 
Accountants have a responsibility to be aware of the transactions affecting 
budget lines under their control.  They should ensure that all transaction 
correspond to expectations. 

 

 Whilst it is management's responsibility to prevent and detect fraudulent and 
corrupt activity, Internal Audit conducts a programme of audits designed to test 
for signs of inappropriate activity.  Internal Audit utilises fraud detection 
techniques and data analytics to extend the audit coverage.  In particular, use 
is made of Computer Assisted Audit Techniques (CAATs) such as IDEA to 
undertake targeted testing on high risk areas and transactions, such as 
payroll, creditors and debtors. 

 

 Where appropriate, the organisation engages in data sharing initiatives to 
facilitate fraud detection, such as the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) and “Tell 
Us Once” schemes. Such initiatives are carried out in accordance with the 
Data Protection Act, and other relevant legislation. 

 

 For the purposes of the prevention and detection of fraud and corruption, the 
organisations will work jointly with other agencies and will share intelligence 
data with these agencies as appropriate. These agencies include, but not 
limited to Merseyside Police, HM Revenue and Customs and other Local 
Authorities. 
 

 
Investigation of Allegations of Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 
 
5.9 The aim of any investigation is to establish the facts surrounding the allegation 

that has been made, so as to establish whether there is evidence of fraud, 
bribery or corruption. 

Page 84



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy Page | 10 
 

 
5.10 Cases for investigation must be referred to Internal Audit, in accordance with 

the Investigation Protocol. The Head of Internal Audit will liaise with Heads of 
Service to determine the investigative action required and to establish the best 
route for the investigation to take, for example Head of Service, Internal Audit, 
or the Police. 

 
5.11 The Head of Internal Audit will ensure that all investigations it carries out comply 

with the Investigation Protocol, other relevant organisational directives and the 
law. 

  
5.12 Following the conclusion of an investigation, Internal Audit will report the 

findings to the relevant Head of Service and / or Director(s). The report will 
reflect any matters arising from the investigation and make recommendations to 
improve internal controls and minimise the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption. 

 
5.13 Where it appears that a criminal offence may have been committed, the 

organisation will ordinarily inform the Police (the final decision of referral to the 
Police will be a matter for the Director of Resources), so that they can carry out 
a criminal investigation that they may refer to the Crown Prosecution Service to 
determine whether a prosecution will be pursued.  

 
  

Page 85



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy Page | 11 
 

 

Appendices 
 

APPENDIX A 
Defining Fraud Offences 
 
Fraud 
Section 1 of the Fraud Act 2006 defined a general offence of fraud and three ways in 
which it may be committed: 

 

 Fraud by false representation; 

 Fraud by failing to disclose information; and 

 Fraud by abuse of position.  
 

Fraud by false representation requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and  

 The person makes the representation knowing that it is or might be false or 
misleading.  

 
Fraud by failing to disclose information requires: 

  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and 

 Failure to disclose information where there is a legal duty to disclose.  
 

Fraud by abuse of position requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and  

 Abuse of a position where one is expected to safeguard another person‟s financial 
interests. 

 
Corruption 
 
The Bribery Act 2010 has defined the following offences: 
 

 Offering, promising or giving a bribe; 

 Requesting or agreeing to receive a bribe; 

 Bribery of a foreign public official; and  

 The corporate offense of failing to prevent a bribe. 
 
It will be a defence against the corporate offence if an organisation has “adequate 
procedures” in place to prevent bribery.  
 
 

Page 86



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy Page | 12 
 

Theft 
  
A person is guilty of theft if he/she dishonestly appropriates property belonging to 
another with the intention of permanently depriving the other of it. 
 
It is immaterial whether the appropriation is made with a view to gain, or is made for 
the thief's own benefit. 
 
Criminal Financing 
 
The Criminal Finances Act (2017) defines two corporate offences of failure to prevent 
facilitation of tax evasion as follows: 
 

 Failure to prevent facilitation of UK tax evasion; and 

 Failure to prevent facilitation of overseas tax evasion.  
 
The organisations could be criminally liable if it fails to prevent those who act for, or on 
their behalf, from criminally facilitating tax evasion, whether in the UK or overseas. 
 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Meeting:     2 October 2019 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

BRIEFING NOTE ON THE AMENDMENTS TO THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION 
COMBINED AUTHORITY (LCRCA) SINGLE ENTITY STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

2018/19 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Audit and Governance Committee with a 

briefing note on the amendments to the LCRCA single entity Statement of Accounts 
for 2018/2019, following external audit consultation. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee:  
 

(a) Note the content of the briefing paper attached in Appendix One 
 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 provide a statutory framework under 

which the Authority is required to publish its Statement of Accounts each year. The 
Authority published the draft statement of accounts for 2018-19 by the deadline of 
31 May 2019. 

 
3.2 The final audited set of accounts were not available for publication by 31 July 2019.  

The delay has been caused by the need to continue to conduct work to establish 
the appropriate treatment on two accounting issues: 

 

 Recognition of capital grant payable to Merseytravel to fund rolling stock 
expenditure 

 the inter group transactions between Merseytravel and the LCRCA single 
entity accounts which had historically been reflected within cash/bank 
overdraft.   

 

 
 

Page 89

Agenda Item 7



 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
 
4.1 Financial 

 
Appendix One details the amendments which have been made to the LCRCA single 
entity Statement of Accounts 2018/19.  There is no impact on the overall LCRCA 
Group position. 
 
The LCRCA Statement of Accounts 2018/19 which have been revised for the 
agreed treatment changes are attached in Appendix Two (to follow).  They are 
currently with Mazars for review.  The revised accounts attached do not yet reflect 
the final agreed set of accounts as they are still subject to agreement with Mazars 
however agreement on the overall prinicples of the changes have been agreed.  
The accounts are provided to allow for some context to the changes. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
  

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
5.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
6.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
7.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
8.  CONCLUSION 
 
8.1 The attached briefing note summarises the amendments made to the LCRCA single 

entity Statement of Accounts 2018/19 and the proposed treatment changes have 
been agreed by Mazars, the external auditors. 

 
JOHN FOGARTY 

Director of Corporate Services 

Page 90



 
Contact Officer(s): 
Sarah Johnston, Head of Finance 0151 330 1015 
Liz Storey Corporate Communications Manager 0151 330 1151 
 
 
Appendices 
Appendix One: Briefing note on the amendments to the LCRCA single entity Statement of 
Accounts 2018/19 
Appendix Two: LCRCA Statement Of Accounts 2018/19 (to follow) 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix One 
 

1 
 

        

Briefing Note on the Amendments to the LCRCA Single Entity Statement of 

Accounts 2018/19 

1. Background 

The draft Statement of Accounts were prepared and presented to the external 

auditors, Mazars, by the deadline date of  31st May 2019.  The final audited set of 

accounts however was not available for publication by 31st July 2019.  The delay was 

caused by the need to continue to conduct work to establish the appropriate 

accounting treatment on the two issues raised below.  This work has now been 

completed and an appropriate accounting treatment has been agreed with Mazars.  

The Statement of Accounts has subsequently been amended to reflect these 

adjustments. Mazars are currently reviewing the revised Statement of Accounts. 

2. Recognition of Capital Grant Payable to Merseytravel to Fund Rolling 

Stock Expenditure 

The approved Rolling Stock programme was predicated on the basis that the 

procurement of the trains and associated works would be undertaken by 

Merseytravel.  Per the business case, the scheme was to be funded by a mixture of 

use of reserves and external borrowing.  Whilst the reserves for this scheme were 

split between the LCRCA and Merseytravel, the borrowing (circa £400m) was to be 

undertaken by the LCRCA and this was made clear in the resolution. This would 

require the CA to passport the funding to Merseytravel.   

Over the last 3-4 years the LCRCA has been in receipt of significant grant receipts in 

respect of Local Growth Fund, Devolution Investment Funds and more latterly 

Transforming Cities funding which have significantly increased the cash balances of 

the LCRCA. To the extent that there has been surplus cash available, the LCRCA 

has been in a position to defer its need to borrow by funding capital expenditure 

through available grant and cash balances.  The funding of this expenditure is 

accounted for as ‘internal borrowing’. 

In the draft 2018/19 Financial Statements, the unfunded element of Rolling Stock 

capital expenditure amounted to £85.612m. This was reported in the Merseytravel 

draft Financial Statements, resulting in an increase of £85.612m in the Capital 

Financing Requirement. 

The proposed revised accounting treatment is to recognise a capital grant payable 

from the LCRCA to Merseytravel to recognise the £85.612m funding provided by the 

LCRCA.  The justification for this is that, in substance, the LCRCA has to grant or 

passport all income through to Merseytravel as the power to levy, receive grants and 

borrow all sit with the LCRCA.   

3. LCRCA and Merseytravel Cash Balances 

Historically Merseytravel and the LCRCA have shared joint bank accounts to make 

payments and receive income.  The shared accounts avoid duplication of effort and 

additional costs. 

Page 93



Appendix One 
 

2 
 

The main bank account is held on a central Balance Sheet and the accounting 

treatment in the 2018-19 draft Financial Statements is to recognise Merseytravel and 

LCRCA calculated share of year-end bank balances on their individual Balance 

Sheets. 

However, unlike the LCRCA, Merseytravel does not have the statutory power to 

invest surplus cash balances or to borrow. The LCRCA is defined as a Local 

Authority under the Localism Act 2011 which provides that a Local Authority has the 

power to do anything that individuals generally may do, known as the general power 

of competence.  As individuals may borrow or invest, the LCRCA is able to borrow or 

invest.  Furthermore, the Local Government Act 2003 section 1 provides a specific 

power to borrow. Merseytravel is not defined as a Local Authority and therefore does 

not have a general power of competence.  As there are no other specific powers to 

borrow or invest in the Merseytravel Constitution this activity is not permissible. 

In reality therefore, if Merseytravel operated a separate bank account, it would not 

hold any surplus year-end cash on its Balance Sheet as these balances would be 

transferred to and invested by the LCRCA.  Similarly, should Merseytravel need to 

borrow externally, the loans would be raised by the LCRCA and report on the 

LCRCA Balance Sheet. 

The proposed revised accounting policy is to recognise all year-end bank balances 

on the LCRCA Balance Sheet and to recognise an intercompany debtor and creditor 

on each Balance Sheet (dependent on the year-end position).  

4. Impact upon the LCRCA Single Entity 2018-19 Draft Accounts – Primary 

Statements 

Page 86 Movement in Reserves Statement 

 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure deficit of £11.847m increases 

to £97.459m reflecting the payment of a capital grant of £85.612m to 

Merseytravel. 

 Adjustments to Usable and Unusable Reserves (for the differences between 

accounting basis and funding basis under regulations) are amended by 

£85.612m reflecting a credit to the General Fund Balance and a debit to the 

Capital Adjustment Account to reverse the impact of the capital grant payment 

on the General Fund Balance. 

Page 87 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

 Transport Gross Expenditure increases by £85.612m, from £216.684m to 

£302.296m, reflecting the capital grant payment to Merseytravel. 

Page 88 Balance Sheet 

 Cash and Cash Equivalents are reduced from £89.805m to £39.072m, an 

overall reduction of £50.733m.  The cash balance is initially reduced for the 

£85.612m capital grant payment to Merseytravel.  The Merseytravel Group 

draft financial statements show a bank overdraft of £50.734m which increases 

to a positive balance of £34.878m following the receipt of the capital grant.  

Page 94



Appendix One 
 

3 
 

This cash balance is now reported on the LCRCA Balance Sheet with an 

adjusting entry to an intercompany creditor (see below).  

 Short-term creditors increase by £34.878m from £87.432m to £122.310m as 

detailed above. 

 Unusable Reserves are reduced by £85.612m reflecting the charge to the 

Capital Adjustment Account for the capital grant payment. 

 The Balance Sheet’s as at 31st March 2017 and 31st March 2018 are restated 

to reflect the revised accounting policy in relation to the treatment of cash 

balances. 

Page 89 Cashflow Statement 

 Net deficit on provision of services is increased by £85.612m to reflect the 

capital grant payment. 

 The adjustment to the net surplus on the provision of services for non-cash 

movements is restated by £37.349m.  This adjustment represents the year on 

year movement in intercompany creditors resulting from the revised 

accounting policy in relation to cash balances.  The intercompany creditor with 

Merseytravel as at 31st March 2018 is £34.878m as detailed above.  The 

equivalent restated balance as at 31st March 2017 is £72.227m. 

 The 2017-18 comparative Cashflow Statement is restated for the adjustments 

to intercompany creditors. 

 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the LCR Combined Authority 
     Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Meeting:     Audit and Governance Committee – 2 October 2019 
     Members of the Combined Authority – 4 October 2019 
 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM:  No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER  
 
 

Constitution Update and  Combined Authority Returning Officer 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 Members will note that this report serves the dual meetings of the Audit and 

Governance meeting and the Combined Authority.  The proposed constitutional 
amendments reflect the evolution of the Combined Authority and the continued 
journey of alignment with Merseytravel.  To that end, it is proposed that these two 
statutory entities move forward with shared codes and procedure rules were 
possible. 
 
Audit and Governance Committee 
 

1.2 This report therefore requests the Audit and Governance Committee to consider the 
proposed changes to the Combined Authority’s Constitution and to make 
recommendations to the Combined Authority Meeting. 
 
Combined Authority 
 

1.3 This report therefore goes on to request that the Combined Authority consider and 
approve the proposed changes to the Combined Authority’s Constitution in light of 
any recommendations made by the Audit and Governance Committee. 
 

1.4 Further the Combined Authority is asked to consider the appointment of the 
Combined Authority Retuning Officer for the election due to take place in May 2020. 
 

 
2. AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Audit and 

Governance Committee: 
 

Page 97

Agenda Item 8



(a)  Consider the report which sets out proposed revisions to the Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority Constitution; and 

 
(b)  Recommend to the Combined Authority the revised constitution in light of the 

proposed amendments set out in paragraphs 4.1 - 4.13 of the report and 
Appendices 1-3. 

 
(c) Consider whether any additional recommendations are to be made to the 

Combined Authority arising from the constitutional amendments proposed. 
 
 
3. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
 

(a) Consider the report which sets out proposed revisions to the Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority Constitution;  
 

(b) Agree the revised constitution so that it is updated as set out in paragraphs 4.1-
4.13 in the report and Appendices 1-3; 
 

(c) Determine whether to change (as set out in paragraph 4.14 of the report)  the 
Combined Authority Constitution (Part 3, Bodies of the Constitution, Section A – 
The Combined Authority, paragraph 3.1 (d) (v) (1)), from a unanimous vote to a 
majority vote; 
 

(d) Agree to the appointment of Liverpool City Council Chief Executive (Head of 
Paid Service, Tony Reeves) as the Combined Authority Returning Officer 
(CARO) in respect of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Mayoral 
election, due to take place on Thursday May 7 2020 (paragraph 4.15-.19).  

 
 
4. BACKGROUND 
 
Constitutional Updates 
 
4.1 Members will recall that a revised constitution was submitted and approved at the 

Combined Authority’s annual meeting in May 2019.   One of the changes made was 
for the Audit and Governance Committee to have a recognised and formal role in 
reviewing proposed changes to the constitution and to make recommendations to a 
subsequent meeting of the Combined Authority.  This is the first opportunity since 
the adoption of the May 2019 constitution, for the Audit and Governance Committee 
to fulfil this role. 

 
4.2 Some of the proposed changes relate to a desire by the Combined Authority and 

Merseytravel to have a common set of procedure rules and codes for staff to abide 
by.  Members will appreciate that the Combined Authority and Merseytravel are two 
separate statutory entities.  To optimise efficiency, keep costs to a minimum and to 
provide resilience the Combined Authority has been and continues to be co-located 
with and shares many resources, particularly corporate resources with 
Merseytravel.    

 

Page 98



4.3 In May 2017, the Combined Authority adopted a constitution that was fit for its new 
circumstances as a Mayoral Authority.  Merseytravel already had its own 
constitution.  Whilst the two statutory entities are born of different legislation, their 
constitutions provide for many of the same or similar codes and procedure rules.  
This means that staff are often navigating two sets of rules that are similar but not 
the same.  To aid internal efficiency, staff confidence and to reduce duplication the 
changes proposed to the Combined Authority constitution are a blend of the best 
parts of each of the respective constitutions. 

 
4.4 If the proposed changes to the Combined Authority constitution are agreed, it is 

anticipated that Merseytravel will likewise adopt these codes and procedure rules 
into the Merseytravel constitution. 

 
4.5 Appendices 1, 2 and 3 to this report are therefore revised versions of the following: 
 

Appendix 1 Officer Code of Conduct (to replace Part 6, Section B of the 
Constitution May 2019) 

Appendix 2 Land Procedure Rules (to replace Part 5, Section D of the  
Constitution May 2019) 

Appendix 3 Contract Procedure Rules (to replace Part 5, Section C of the  
Constitution May 2019) 

 
4.6 Officer Code of Conduct  - In relation to the Officer Code of Conduct (Appendix 1), 

this is essentially the same as the current Officer Code of Conduct in spirit, but has 
been revised to reflect the context of gifts, hospitality etc. that exist in the Combined 
Authority’s business and experience to date.  The key change is the application of 
the Code to staff employed by both statutory entities with one exception.  The 
exception is in paragraph 13.4 of Appendix 1.   Statutorily the provision identified in 
paragraph 13.4 does not apply to employees in Merseytravel, but staff will be asked 
to abide by this in any event.  

 
4.7 Land Procedure Rules - In relation to the Land Procedure Rules (Appendix 2), 

Members of the Combined Authority will recall that a view was expressed that 
Members were content for land transactions to be delegated to officers.  This 
revision to the Land Procedure Rules effects this change as requested.  See 
paragraph 6 of the Land Procedure Rules 

 
4.8 Contract Procedure Rules - In relation to the Contract Procedure Rules (Appendix 

3), the real benefit of these changes is clarity for staff. Merseytravel had a strong 
set of contract procedure rules which were more detailed about roles and 
responsibilities and authority to act.  These rules have been refined to reflect the 
Combined Authority and it is proposed that these be adopted as part of the 
Combined Authority’s constitution. 

 
4.9 Further work will be undertaken to consider the Financial Procedure Rules and it is 

likely that these will be presented in due course. 
 
4.10 There are a small number of miscellaneous changes that are requested for 

approval as well.  These miscellaneous changes relate to Strategic Investment 
Fund pre-development funding and the process for the appointment of co-opted 
members. 

 

Page 99



4.11 Strategic Investment Fund – In relation to the SIF officers continue to abide by the 
previously agreed Assurance Framework.  Some day to day administrative 
delegations would help officers greatly to ensure that LCRCA processes are 
effective and optimised.  Those delegations relate to four areas of activity as 
follows: 

 

 Pre-Development funding decisions 

 Use of SIF funds for particular projects 

 Use of Thematic Funds 
 

A new heading will be added to the Constitution so that all SIF related delegations 
are grouped together.  These will be formed in Part 3, Section G under the 
heading of General Delegations to the Head of Paid Service, Directors 
and Monitoring Officer 

 
4.12 Pre-Development funding decisions 

 
In relation to SIF pre-development funding decisions, Members will recall that in 
October 2018 a report was considered which included the following information: 

 
 “4.4 Pre-development Funding 

The City Region’s leadership considers project development to be a significant 
barrier to growth. The absence of high-impact, investment ready projects is a risk to 
SIF. The risk is that the CA finds it has more funds than projects and struggles 
therefore to generate the economic growth it was established to enable. 

 
The CA cannot reach its potential without acting to improve the City Region’s 
project development capacity. 

 
Project development requires the commitment of risk funding and dedicated 
personnel from an early stage. Austerity has reduced project sponsors’ ability to 
provide this funding and personnel, particularly in the public sector. The inability to 
develop projects damages most those sectors with long planning cycles. The CA 
considers the pipeline of projects able to absorb Transforming Cities Funds and to 
establish a funding partnership with Homes England (which is focused on volume 
delivery and therefore on larger housing sites) at highest risk. 

 
In order to commit SIF funds in an orderly way, the CA must intervene to expand 
and improve the pipeline of projects that it might fund. The CA can provide risk 
funding and expertise to help analyse markets, identify opportunities and develop 
projects towards a deliverable state. Pre-development funding can be drawn from 
the CA’s gain share revenue allocation; a small portion of Transforming Cities 
funding; and Growing Places Funding. 

 
The CA proposes to allocate up to 2% of non-transport funding and 6% of transport 
funding to pre-development for a period of two years. This sum is reflected in the 
project commission table below. Please refer to Annex 2 for guidelines to be applied 
to pre-development funding.” 

 
The following recommendation was agreed at that meeting in light of the above 
information. 
 

Page 100



“the allocation of pre-development funding to support Round II investment be 
approved; “ 
 

4.13 It is now considered helpful by officers for this position to be recognised in the 
Constitution.  It is therefore proposed to include the following at Part 3, Section G 
of the Constitution to be inserted as follows: 

 
 “To note that where the Combined Authority has agreed to the allocation of 

predevelopment funding as a % of the Strategic Investment Funds that officers are 
authorised  to make decisions to spend this funding in excess of the key decision 
thresholds.  Such decisions will be reported quarterly to the Combined Authority.” 

 
4.14 This step will allow decisions to be made quickly and efficiently with respect to pre-

development support which is required to develop ideas/initiatives into projects.  If 
this is agreed, Part 4, Section B of the Constitution also needs to be amended 
regarding key decisions, so that all parts of the constitution are consistent. 

 
4.15 Use of Strategic Investment Funds (SIF) for particular projects 
 
 Members will appreciate that the very nature of the SIF is that a number of funds 

from government are amalgamated together to ensure best effect in funding 
decisions.  To date officer reports requesting consideration of SIF applications have 
generally tended to identify which constituent part of the Strategic Investment Fund 
might be deployed for that particular application.  For example a project may say 
that it will be funded from Town Centres Fund, but it could also be funded from the 
Local Growth Fund.  To that end officers seek a delegation to be able to change the 
identified source of fund to use the money for best effect.  All such changes will be 
from within the overall Strategic Investment Fund.  Such changes might occur due 
to the date by which expenditure has to be committed, or during a more detailed 
consideration of the project.  Any such changes would be reported to members 
through the SIF Quarterly update report.  It is therefore proposed that the delegation 
to officers be included as follows: 

 
 “Where an approval for a SIF application identifies and attributes a specific part of 

the Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) to the application, that officers are authorised 
to attribute other funds from within the Strategic Investment Fund and any such 
changes will be reported to members of the Combined Authority by way of the SIF 
quarterly update report.” 

 
4.16 Use of Thematic Funds 
 
 From time to time the Combined Authority may determine that it wishes from within 

the overall Strategic Investment Fund to create smaller thematic funds to spend on 
specific purposes.  Examples included later in the agenda are the BREXIT 
Resilience fund and the Inward Investment fund.   In order for these Thematic funds 
to be distributed in accordance with the principles agreed by members, there needs 
to be specific delegations to officers.  Accordingly it is requested that the following 
delegation be included in the Constitution in Part 3, Section G, as described above. 

 
“Following Combined Authority approval of the creation of a Thematic Fund, 
Officers be authorised to expend Thematic Funds in accordance with; 
 

Page 101



 The principles identified in the economic case supporting the decision to 
create the Thematic Fund.   

 The processes outlined in the Assurance Framework up to and including the 
SIF Investment Panel. 

 Decisions to spend this funding can be in excess of the key decision 
thresholds 

 
Such expenditure will be reported to members of the Combined Authority by way of 
the SIF quarterly update report.” 

 
 
4.17 At Part 3, Bodies of the Constitution, Section A – The Combined Authority 

(paragraph 3.1 (d)), it is noted that the Combined Authority has opted to have a 
unanimous vote in relation to the co-option of members onto the Combined 
Authority.  This is a local choice not a statutory requirement.  Members are asked to 
consider as to whether this local choice should continue or whether it should 
change to a majority vote.  For Members ease the relevant extract from the 
constitution is set out below. 

 
“(d) A decision on a question relating to any of the matters specified below, where 
such a question does not relate to the exercise of a general function exercisable 
only by the Metro Mayor in accordance with the Orders, requires a unanimous vote 
in favour by all members of the Combined Authority appointed by the constituent 
councils, or substitute members, acting in place of those members, present and 
voting on that question to be carried at a meeting of the Combined Authority. The 
matters referred to are: 

(i) the determination and review of any transitional arrangements on 
transport; 
(ii) all matters relating to the constitution of the Combined Authority; 
(iii) amendments to the standing orders of the Combined Authority; 
(iv) all matters relating to the management, maintenance and funding of the 
Key Route Network of local roads which are to be maintained by the 
Combined Authority; and 
(v) such matters as may be determined by the Combined Authority and set 
out in the standing orders within this Constitution, which are currently : 
(1) the co-option of additional members onto the Combined 
Authority.” 

 
 
5. APPOINTMENT OF COMBINED AUTHORITY RETURNING OFFICE MAY 2020 
 
5.1 The Combined Authorities (Mayoral Elections) Order 2017 provides that each 

Combined Authority must appoint one of its officers or one of the officers of a 
constituent council to be the Combined Authority Returning Officer (CARO). If the 
latter this will normally be a Local Returning Officer. 

 
5.2 The CARO will have overall responsibility for the election of the Mayor and may, for 

example, give to a Returning Officer of a constituent council directions relating to 
the conduct of the election. In addition the CARO will be responsible for accepting 
nominations and coordinating the regional result. 

 

Page 102



5.3 As this is a legal requirement, there are no other options other than to formally 
appoint a CARO to ensure the City Region Combined Authority undertake their 
statutory duty and to ensure that the election is fair, transparent and that everyone 
has confidence in the result. 

 
5.4 Following local discussions, it is proposed that the Chief Executive of Liverpool City 

Council (Head of Paid Service), Tony Reeves be appointed to this position and that 
he be supported by the Combined Authority’s Monitoring Officer (Jill Coule) as one 
of his Deputy CARO’s. 

 
 
6. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Financial 
  None arising from the contents of this report. 
 
6.2 Human Resources 
  None arising from the contents of this report 
 
6.3 Physical Assets 
 None arising from the contents of this report 
 
6.4 Information Technology 
 None arising from the contents of this report 
 
 
7.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
7.1 Keeping the constitution up to date helps to ensure that the Combined Authority 

rules, procedures and requirements are fit for purpose and can provide assurance 
to the Audit and Governance Committee and beyond. 

 
7.2 Early appointment of the CARO, will allow appropriate preparation to be undertaken 

for the election of the Metro Mayor in May 2020. 
 
 
8.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 None arising from the contents of this report 
 
 
9.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
9.1 None arising from the contents of this report 
 
 
10.  CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 This report requests the Audit and Governance Committee to make 

recommendations to the Combined Authority Meeting regarding the proposed 
constitutional amendments set out in the report and in Appendices 1-3. 
 

Page 103



10.2 This report requests the Combined Authority to consider and approve the proposed 
changes to the Combined Authority’s Constitution in light of any recommendations 
made by the Audit and Governance Committee. 
 

10.3 Further the Combined Authority is asked to consider the appointment of the 
Combined Authority Retuning Officer for the election due to take place in May 2020. 

 
 
 

JILL COULE 
Monitoring Officer  

 
 

Contact Officer: 
Louise Outram, Deputy Monitoring Officer, 0151 330 1700 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – Officer Code of Conduct 
Appendix Two – Land Procedure Rules 
Appendix Three – Contract Procedure Rules 
 
 
Background Documents:  
 
Nil 
 
 

Page 104



 

 

  

  

CONSTITUTION OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY 

REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 

 

Part 6 

 

Section B 

 

 

Officers’ Code of Conduct 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 105



 

CONTENTS 

  

  

 No.  Section  Page No.  

  

1. Introduction 

2. Standards, Values & Expectation 

3. Disclosure of Information 

4. Political Neutrality/Activity  

5. Relationships 

6. Outside Commitments 

7. Personal Interests 

8. Equality Issues 

9. Separation of Role During Tendering 

10. Corruption 

11. Use of Financial Resources  

12. Use of Combined Authority Facilities 

13. Gifts and Hospitality 

14. Sponsorship – Giving and Receiving 

15. Hospitality Offered by the Combined Authority 

16. Whistleblowing 

  

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 Any reference to the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (“the LCRCA”) is 

to be read as including Merseytravel. 

 

1.2 The NJC (National Joint Council for Local Government Services) National Agreement 

on Pay and Conditions of Service incorporates the following statements: 

 

“Employees will maintain conduct of the highest standard such that public confidence 

in their integrity is sustained. 

Local codes of practice will be developed to cover the official conduct and the 

obligations of employees and employers.” 

 

1.3 Combined Authority employees are expected to conduct themselves with integrity 

and honesty in carrying out their duties and must provide the highest possible 

standard of service to the public. Where it is part of their duties to provide 

appropriate advice to members and fellow employees this must be done with 

impartiality at all times. 

 

1.4 This Code of Conduct is intended as a guide for employees on the standards that 

are expected. It builds on the expectation that officers will observe the general 

principles of conduct identified by the Committee on Standards in Public Life (as 

set out in Appendix 1 to the Members Code of Conduct at Part 6A) as it equally 

applies to them. 

 

1.5 Employees will be expected, without fear of recrimination, to bring to the attention of 

the appropriate level of management any deficiency in the provision of service (see 

paragraph 15 - Whistleblowing). 

 

1.6 Any breach of the terms of this Code will be dealt with in accordance with the 

provisions of the Disciplinary Procedure of the Combined Authority. 

 

1.7 If employees are in any doubt about any of the provisions of the Code they should seek 

advice from their manager. 

 

1.8 Where the following expressions are used for the LCRCA positions they also refer to 

the Merseytravel positions: 

 

LCRCA Merseytravel 

 Head of Paid Service  Director General 

 Monitoring Officer/Deputy 

Monitoring Officer 

 Secretary 

 Treasurer  Chief Financial Officer 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 107



 

2. STANDARDS, VALUES & EXPECTATIONS 

 

2.1  Employees are expected to give the highest possible standard of service to the public, 

and where it is part of their duties, to provide appropriate advice to other employees 

and Members with impartiality. Employees should bring to the attention of the 

management any deficiency in the provision of service and must report any 

impropriety or breach of procedure to their senior Officer. 

 

2.2 The public is entitled to expect the conduct of LCRCA‟s employees to be of the 

highest standard and public confidence would be damaged were there any suspicion, 

however ill-founded, suggesting an officer‟s integrity was questionable. It is not 

enough to avoid actual impropriety, employees must, at all times, seek to avoid any 

occasion for suspicion or appearance of improper conduct. 

 

2.3  The following values provide the cornerstone for ethical behaviour as an LCRCA 

employee: 

 

 Service, Respect & Courtesy; 

 Honesty & Integrity; 

 Accountability; 

 Political Neutrality; and 

 Standards of Professional Conduct. 

 

2.4 The LCRCA expects its employees to: 

 

 Conduct themselves in a manner that reflects well on the organisation; 

 Comply with all legal and regulatory requirements; 

 Treat others with respect and courtesy; 

 Behave fairly, honestly and openly; 

 Safeguard the assets and property of the organisation; 

 Remain politically neutral when undertaking their duties; 

 Comply with both the letter of the law (or any LCRCA policy) and the general spirit 

of any directive; 

 Ensure „commercial expediency‟ does not override or usurp this Code of Conduct 

or any other LCRCA policy; 

 To report to the appropriate level of management and/or to the relevant individuals 

any impropriety or breach of procedure; 

 Recognise that their off-duty hours are their own personal concern but that they 

should not subordinate their duty to their private interests or put themselves in a 

position where their duty and their private interest conflict. 

 

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION 

  

3.1.  The law requires that certain types of information must be available to 

Members, auditors, government departments, service users and the public. 

 

Page 108



 

3.2.  Under the Local Government Act 1972, as well as legislation such as the 

Freedom of Information Act 2000, the public have a right to see or obtain 

certain information held by public bodies. 

  

3.3.  Employees must not use any information obtained in the course of their 

employment for personal gain or benefit, or pass it onto others who might use it 

in such a way. 

  

3.4. All contact with the media, whether being sought proactively or in response to 

media requests, should be referred to the communications team for 

consideration and for agreement of approach. All staff should familiarise 

themselves with the media policy. 

 

3.5. Use of social media, whether on behalf of the organisation as part of an 

employee‟s role, or by an employee personally (should they be able to be 

recognised as an employee of the LCRCA), should not bring the organisation 

into disrepute or breach confidentiality. All staff should familiarise themselves 

with the social media policy. 

 

3.6.  If employees consider that the non-disclosure of certain information is contrary 

to the wider public interest, they should advise the Proper Officer, Head of Paid 

Service, Directors and Monitoring Officer or the Head of Service of the 

information and the issues concerned.   

   

 4.   POLITICAL NEUTRALITY/ACTIVITY   

   

4.1.  Employees serve the Combined Authority as a whole. It follows, therefore, that 

they must serve all Members of the Combined Authority as a whole and not just 

Members of any controlling group and/or the Metro Mayor, and must ensure 

that the individual rights of all Members are respected.   

  

4.2.  Some senior employees will be expected, within the Combined Authority‟s 

guidelines, to advise political groups. These employees have a duty to advise 

minority groups as well as the controlling group.   

  

4.3.  Some employees, who are normally those in more senior positions, are in 

politically restricted posts and by law are prevented from taking part in certain 

political activities outside their work. Employees who are in this position should 

have been told of this in writing and of the rules for claiming exemption, but any 

employee who is any doubt about their position should contact the Monitoring 

Officer or staff in the personnel team.   

  

4.4.  If an employee is in any doubt about whether an activity is political activity and 

covered by these rules they should seek advice from their Head of Paid 

Service, Directors and Monitoring Officer.   

  

Page 109



 

4.5.  It is important that all employees are aware of their position in terms of political 

activity because if these statutory provisions are breached this may constitute a 

breach of the Contract of Employment which may be dealt with under the 

Combined Authority‟s disciplinary procedure.   

  

4.6.  Employees, whether or not politically restricted, must follow every lawful policy 

of the Combined Authority and must not allow their own personal or political 

opinions to interfere with their work.   

   

5. RELATIONSHIPS 

   

5.1  Members   

   

Some employees are required to give advice to Members as part of their job 

and mutual respect between employees and Members is essential to good  

governance.   

   

5.2  The Local Community and Service Users   

   

Employees must always remember their responsibilities to the community they 

serve and ensure courteous, efficient and impartial service delivery to all 

groups and individuals within the community.   

   

5.3  Contractors   

   

All relationships with contractors or potential contractors must be made known 

to the appropriate Manager. Orders and contracts must be awarded in line with 

the Combined Authority‟s financial regulations.   

   

Employees who engage or supervise contractors or have an official relationship 

with contractors and have previously had or currently have a relationship in a 

private or domestic capacity, must declare that relationship to the appropriate 

manager.   

   

6. OUTSIDE COMMITMENTS 

   

6.1.  An employee‟s off-duty hours are their personal concern but they must not 

place themselves in a position where their employment and private interests 

conflict. The Combined Authority would not wish to preclude employees 

unreasonably from undertaking additional work unless that work conflicts with 

or detrimentally affects the Combined Authority‟s interests or in any way 

weakens public confidence in the conduct of the Combined Authority‟s 

business, or in any way affects the ability to fulfil the Contract of Employment.   

 

6.2 Officers on a Head of Service Grade or above are expected to devote the 

whole of their paid employment work to the Combined Authority and must not 

engage in any other business or take up any other additional appointment for 

Page 110



 

financial gain without the agreement in advance of their Head of Paid Service, 

Directors and Monitoring Officer. 

 

7. PERSONAL INTERESTS 

   

7.1.  Employees must declare to their line manager, non-financial interests that they 

consider could bring conflict with the Combined Authority‟s interests (e.g. 

involvement with an organisation receiving grant aid from the Combined 

Authority, membership of an NHS Trust Board, involvement with an 

organisation or pressure group which may seek to influence their authority‟s 

policies, personal relationships etc.). Membership of a trade union is exempted 

from this requirement.   

  

7.2.  Employees must declare any financial interest, which could conflict with the 

Combined Authority‟s interests. Employees should note that, in addition to the 

provisions of this Code and of conditions of employment, it is criminal offence to 

fail to comply with the following requirement:  

“If it comes to the knowledge of an officer employed by a local 

authority/Combined Authority that a contract in which he or she has any 

pecuniary interest, whether direct or indirect (not being a contract to which 

they are a party), has been, or is proposed to be, entered into by the 

authority or any committee thereof, the officer shall as soon as practicable 

give notice in writing to the authority of the fact that the officer is interested 

therein” (s.117(1) of the Local Government Act 1972).   

  

7.3.  Employees who have an interest, financial or non-financial, should not involve 

themselves in any decision on allocation of Combined Authority services or 

resources from which they, their friends or family might benefit, and should 

ensure that the matter is referred immediately to their line manager (e.g.  

allocation of Combined Authority housing or assessment of housing benefit).   

   

8.   EQUALITY ISSUES 

   

8.1  Employees have an obligation to ensure that policies relating to equality issues 

as agreed by the Combined Authority are complied with, as well, of course, as 

the requirements of the law. All members of the local community, customers 

and other employees have a right to be treated with fairness and equity.   

   

9. SEPARATION OF ROLE DURING TENDERING 

   

9.1.  Employees should be clear on the separation of client and contractor roles 

within the Combined Authority. Senior employees who have both a client and 

contractor responsibility must be aware of the need for accountability and 

openness.   

  

Page 111



 

9.2.  Employees in contractor or provider units must exercise fairness and 

impartiality when dealing with all customers, suppliers, other contractors and 

subcontractors.   

  

9.3.  Employees who are privy to confidential information on tenders or costs for 

either internal or external contractors must not disclose that information to any 

unauthorised party or organisation.   

 

9.4.  Employees must ensure that no special favour is shown to current or recent 

former employees or their partners, close relatives or associates in awarding 

contracts to businesses run by them or employing them in a senior or relevant 

managerial capacity.   

   

10. CORRUPTION 

   

10.1  It is a criminal offence for an employee to receive or give any gift, loan, fee, 

reward or advantage for doing or not doing anything or showing favour or 

disfavour to any person in their official capacity. It is for the employee to 

demonstrate that any such rewards have not been corruptly obtained.   

   

11. USE OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES 

   

11.1  Employees must ensure that they use public funds entrusted to them in a 

responsible and lawful manner, ensuring value for money to the local 

community and avoiding legal challenge to the Combined Authority.   

  

12. USE OF COMBINED AUTHORITY FACILITIES 

  

12.1  Officers of the Combined Authority are provided with facilities, including office 

equipment, computer facilities, transport, telephones, secretarial services etc., 

to use in carrying out their official duties. Certain facilities, such as telephones 

and photocopiers, are available to staff for limited private incidental use with 

prior agreement of the officers Head of Service or Director. However, 

Combined Authority work must always be given priority. Unauthorised use of 

equipment will render an employee liable to disciplinary action and/or legal 

proceedings.   

  

12.2  The Combined Authority recognises the importance of information technology 

in delivering efficient, high quality services. All officers are required to take 

appropriate measures to ensure the security of information, and the protection 

of IT equipment and information from threats such as computer viruses and 

theft. Employees can introduce a virus when utilising their own software and 

this must in no circumstances take place without the prior written approval both 

of the Head of Information Technology and the employee‟s relevant senior 

officer.   

  

Page 112



 

12.3  The use of IT equipment is regulated by various Procedure Rules including the 

Acceptable Use of IT Policy and Acts of Parliament including Data Protection 

legislation and the Freedom of Information Act (2000). All employees are 

obliged to act in accordance with these regulations and employees must be 

aware of the requirements of these policies for both business and personal use 

of IT equipment. Details can be accessed through the Intranet site.  

  

12.4  Employees who have responsibility for the use of equipment, machinery, etc. 

must always ensure that routine checks are carried out prior to use. Any defect 

or damage must be reported immediately by the employee to their supervisor.   

  

12.5  Employees who use social media as part of their day-to-day work, including the 

management of the Combined Authority‟s  social media accounts to engage 

with residents, should adhere to the Combined Authority‟s  Social Media 

protocol.  

   

13. GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY 

 

13.1 It is acknowledged that LCRCA employees may be offered gifts or hospitality in the 

course of their work. 

 

13.2 Employees must not seek out offers of gifts or hospitality, nor should the receipt – or 

potential receipt – of gifts or hospitality have any influence on the policies, practices, 

decisions or actions of employees or the LCRCA as a corporate body. 

 

13.3 Insofar as Elected Members are concerned, paragraphs 27 to 29 of the National 

Code of Local Government Conduct deal with gifts and hospitality.  Although the 

National Code of Local Government Conduct has been designed specifically for 

Elected Members, employees should be aware of its provisions and operate within 

them. 

 

13.4 In relation to Officers of the LCRCA specifically, Section 117(2) of the Local 

Government Act 1972 states that an Officer shall not, under colour of his/her office, 

accept any fee or reward whatsoever other than his proper remuneration. Any 

breach is a criminal offence.  Whilst statutorily this provision does not apply to 

Merseytravel staff they are asked to abide by its terms in any event. 

 

13.5 Employees must always be aware that the acceptance of inducements might be 

seen as corruption, which is a criminal offence under the Bribery Act 2010.  This Act 

covers the request, agreement to receive, or acceptance of an advantage or bribe 

as well as the offer, promise, or giving of an advantage or bribe to another person. 

  

Register to be Maintained 

  

13.6 To demonstrate the openness and integrity of the circumstances relating to the 

offer and acceptance of gifts, hospitality or other favours, HR will maintain a 

register (or registers as appropriate) of favours etc. offered, detailing the nature 

of the favour, and indicating whether such favours are declined or accepted. 

Page 113



 

Each person will be responsible for entering details of all favours offered to, or 

accepted by, them in the appropriate register. The Head of Paid Service and 

appropriate senior managers will maintain their own registers. The Head of 

Audit is available to provide detailed advice on the format of registers, together 

with what should be included within them. 

 

13.7 Registers must be open for inspection at any time, and without prior notice by 

the following: 

 

a) The Head of Paid Service;  

b) Monitoring Officer;  

c) Senior Managers as appropriate when appointed; 

d) Internal Audit Staff; 

e) The External Auditor. 

 

Gifts 

 

13.8 There are a number of considerations to be taken into account where gifts are 

concerned which may impact upon the appropriateness of accepting them. 

These include, but are not limited to: 

 

a) The nature of the gift, e.g. its value; 

b) The motivation of the person giving the gift; and 

c) The frequency of the proposed gift/hospitality. 

 

13.9 Most firms, as part of their normal commercial activity, distribute gifts which 

range from the promotional (e.g. calendars, diaries etc.) to the more expensive 

(e.g. wines and spirits). The more expensive gifts are obviously distributed 

where they will have the greatest specific impact.   While this may be 

commonplace and acceptable conduct in some parts of the private sector, the 

requirements of the public sector are very different.  

  

Guidance 

  

(a) Officers must refuse any personal gift offered to them by any person or firm 

who has or seeks dealings with the Combined Authority.  

  

(b) The exception to this is modest promotional material of low value such as 

calendars and diaries, which are, in many cases, unsolicited and simply 

delivered by post. Even here, however, staff must use their judgment, and 

more expensive promotional items must be refused and returned.  

  

(c) From time to time, staff may find themselves in a position where they have 

to refuse and/or return gifts. This requires diplomatic handling and staff must 

not behave in ways which donors of gifts might regard as impolite or 

unnecessarily critical of a recognised private sector practice.  

  

Page 114



 

(d) It is sometimes acceptable to the giver for a gift, which in other 

circumstances would be refused as in (c) to be donated instead to charity.   

An arrangement of this sort must only be made with a Senior Manager‟s 

approval, must be entered in the Register, and recorded by letter to the 

giver indicating that the gift has been donated to charity.  

  

  Hospitality 

  

13.10 Contacts established socially can be helpful in the Combined Authority's 

interests.   It is therefore appropriate in certain circumstances for the 

Combined Authority's staff to accept invitations for social involvement with 

persons or bodies, including those who have, or may seek to have, business 

dealings with the Combined Authority. At the same time it is very easy for 

such involvement to be misconstrued as providing an opportunity to bring 

about undue influence and there will, therefore, be occasions when hospitality 

must be declined. 

 

13.11 Where hospitality is offered to staff as representatives of the Authority, it may 

be accepted where it appears reasonable in all the circumstances to do so. It 

is generally more acceptable to join in hospitality offered to a group than to an 

individual. Where hospitality is offered to one employee only, special caution 

is needed as an employee alone may be viewed as more vulnerable than a 

number of employees. Again, this is a matter of judgement. 

 

13.12 When a particular person or body has a matter currently in issue with the 

Combined Authority (e.g. arbitration arising from a contract or an industrial 

development proposal), an offer of hospitality must be refused even if in 

normal times it would be acceptable. 

 

13.13 Staff members must not accept offers of hospitality which might, or might 

reasonably appear to, compromise their personal judgement or integrity and 

place them under an improper obligation. 

 

13.14 However, there are some roles where it would never be appropriate for 

officers to accept offers of gifts and hospitality. This is particularly true of 

employees who: 

 

 Are members of the Procurement team; 

 Are involved in commissioning a service or in tender evaluation; 

 Undertake a regulatory or contract monitoring function; and 

 Are involved in determining payments due to third parties. 

 

13.15 There are also certain types of event that it would not be appropriate for 

members of the Combined Authority to be seen to be attending. Employees 

should make their own judgement based on this guidance and discuss it with 

their Head of Service, Monitoring Officer, Director and/or Head of Paid Service 

before accepting or declining the gift or the offer of hospitality.  It is not 

possible for the Code to contemplate all manner of events that might fall to be 

Page 115



 

considered under this category.  A type of event that might not be suitable is 

an event to speak at a political party occasion.  Other issues and types of 

event may fall to be considered and the example is not meant to be 

determinative. 

 

13.16 Where attendance at events given through hospitality is considered 

appropriate, for example in order to represent, support or promote the 

Liverpool City Region, attendance should be authorised by the Head of Paid 

Service. 

 

13.17 Where an offer of hospitality is made to the Head of Paid Service that (having 

regard to this policy) he wishes to accept, the authorisation of the Treasurer 

and/or the Monitoring Officer must be obtained. 

 

Favour 

 

13.18 It is accepted that favours may often be offered by outside agencies in good 

faith and to promote a good working relationship and understanding. 

 

13.19 Constant refusals to accept such offers could impair essential working 

relationships and possibly create an atmosphere of distrust with a 

consequential detrimental effect on the business being conducted. Staff can 

discuss this situation with their Head of Service, Monitoring Officer, Director 

and/or Head of Paid Service before accepting or declining the favour or the 

offer of the favour. 

 

13.20 However, it is vitally important to be able to demonstrate that Combined 

Authority business is conducted with the utmost integrity, without any taint of 

impropriety or corruption. Accordingly, offers of personal favours by 

organisations or individuals with whom the Combined Authority deals must be 

treated by employees with due caution. Favours must not affect proper 

working relationships, or allow concern that they are affecting proper working 

relationships. 

 

13.21 A distinction must be drawn between favours perceived to be offered as 

goodwill gestures, and those which might be seen to be inducements.   Any 

favour which could be regarded as an inducement to influence the business of 

the Combined Authority in an improper manner cannot be accepted. The offer 

of any such favour must immediately be reported to the employee's Head of 

Service, Director, Monitoring Officer or Head of Paid Service. 

 

13.22 Trade or other discounts, a similar preferential treatment for personal items 

must not be sought or accepted by individual employees as a direct 

consequence of their employment by the Combined Authority.  

  

14. SPONSORSHIP - GIVING AND RECEIVING   

   

Page 116



 

14.1  Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor or is sought to sponsor a 

Combined Authority  activity, whether by invitation, tender, negotiation or 

voluntarily the basic conventions concerning acceptance of gifts or hospitality 

apply. Particular care must be taken when dealing with contractors or potential 

contractors.   

   

14.2  Where the authority wishes to sponsor an event or service neither an employee 

nor any partner, spouse or relative must benefit from such sponsorship in a 

direct way without there being full disclosure to an appropriate manager of any 

such interest. Similarly where the Combined Authority through sponsorship, 

grant aid, financial or other means, gives support in the community, employees 

must ensure that impartial advice is given and that there is no conflict of 

interest involved.   

 

15. HOSPITALITY OFFERED BY THE COMBINED AUTHORITY 

 

15.1 The LCRCA will not normally provide gifts or hospitality in the course of its business 

although there are occasions where low value „gifts‟ may be appropriate for 

marketing purposes. 

 

15.2 The provision of hospitality must be agreed in advance by your Head of Service (or 

immediate line manager for Heads of Service and above). 

 

15.3 The expenses claim form can be used to claim back expenses associated with 

hospitality, provided all receipts are attached to the claim. 

 

15.4 When determining whether or not it is appropriate to offer hospitality to third parties, 

employees should consider the same conditions as they would for hospitality 

received. 

 

16. WHISTLEBLOWING  

  

16.1 If an employee becomes aware of activities which he/she believes to be illegal, 

improper, unethical or otherwise inconsistent with this Code, the employee 

should report the matter, acting in accordance with the employee‟s rights under 

the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998, and with the Combined Authority‟s 

confidential reporting procedure, or any other procedure designed for this 

purpose.  

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



  

  

  

  

 

CONSTITUTION OF  

THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION 

COMBINED AUTHORITY 

 

Part 5 

Financial Standing Orders 

 

 

 

   

   

Section D 

Land Procedure Rules 

  

Page 119



Section D 

Land Procedure Rules 

 

1. Definitions 
 

  
(a) “Combined Authority” means the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority or 

Merseytravel as appropriate; 
 

(b)  “Decision” means a decision named as such in the Combined Authority 
or Merseytravel’s Scheme of Delegation. 

 
(c) “Delegated Decision” means a decision named as such in the 

Combined Authority or Merseytravel’s Scheme of Delegation. 
 

 (d) “Head of Service” shall mean those officers who are so designated by 
the Combined Authority as a Head of Service, Senior Head of Service, 
or Rolling Stock Project Director. 

 
(e) “High Value Land Transaction” shall mean a Land Transaction where 

the total value of the Land Transaction is over £250,000 or where 
statutory protection attaches to the Land Transaction under the 
Landlord and Tenant Act 1954. 

 
(f) “Intermediate Value Land Transaction” shall mean a Land Transaction 

where the total value of the Land Transaction payable to or by the 
Combined Authority is between £20,000 and £250,000 and where no 
statutory protection attaches to the Land Transaction under the 
Landlord and Tenant Act 1954. 

 
(g) “Land Transaction” shall mean any land transaction as detailed in 

paragraph 2 hereof. 
 

(h) “Low Value Land Transaction” shall mean a Land Transaction where 
the total value of the Land Transaction does not exceed £20,000 and 
where no statutory protection attaches to the Land Transaction under 
the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954. 

 
2. These Land Procedure Rules apply to any Land Transaction which includes the 

following:- 
 
(a) acquisition, disposal of or other dealing with  land, buildings or other 

property assets held by the Combined Authority or the allocation of the 
proceeds thereof; 

Page 120



(b) entering into of any licences, tenancies, leases, change of use, 
wayleaves and easements for property owned by another party; 

(c) the renewal of leases protected by the Landlord and Tenant  Act 1954; 
 (d) assignment, underletting or change of use requests of leases or licences 

granted by the Combined Authority; 
(e) licences to commercial advertisers for the display of advertisements on 

Combined Authority properties;  
(f) easements over Combined Authority land; 
(g) wayleaves for the laying of services under on or through land and 

premises owned by the Combined Authority; 
(h) termination/surrender of any licences, tenancies and leases of land or 

property taken by the Combined Authority which are no longer required; 
and 

(i) a legal mortgage or charge over a property in favour of the Combined 
Authority 

 
3. The Senior Head of Service Operations or Head of Asset Management shall:- 
 
 (a) ensure that rent reviews for leases of land/premises are carried out as 

they fall due and take appropriate action to protect Combined Authority 
property assets;  

 
(b) Arrange for properties falling vacant to be relet expeditiously or  

considered for disposal.  
 
(c) Periodically review whether the return from individual property assets.
  

 
In doing so the Senior Head of Service Operations or the Head of Asset 
Management shall ensure that Value for Money is obtained in respect of the 
Land Transaction.  The provisions set out in Procurement Procedure 7.1 shall 
be considered when determining such matter.  

 
4. Subject to paragraph 7 below, a Delegated Decision of the Combined Authority 

is required in respect of any Intermediate Value Land Transaction.  
 
5. Subject to paragraph 7 below, Head of Service approval is required for any Low 

Value Land Transaction. 
 
6. Subject to paragraph 7 below, a Decision of the Combined Authority is required 

in respect of any High Value Land Transaction except for any High Value Land 
Transaction relating to land owned by the Combined Authority and operated by 
Merseytravel e.g. No 1 Mann Island.  Approval for any High Value Land 
Transaction relating to land owned by the Combined Authority and operated by 
shall be approved by Merseytravel.     

 
 When determining a disposal of land for a High Value Land Transaction the 

Combined Authority shall consider a report which:- 
 

(a) specifies the land to be disposed of; 

Page 121



(b) confirms whether the land has been declared surplus to requirements; 
(c) advises upon the proposed method of disposal and provides the reasons for 

selecting that method; 
(d) confirms whether or not the proposed method of disposal is likely to achieve 

best consideration and, where other than open competition is 
recommended, describes how this will be satisfied/evidenced; and 

(e) in matters where it is proposed that the disposal should be for less than best 
consideration gives reasons for and against seeking best consideration. 

 
7. In determining the amount of a Land Transaction for the purposes of 

paragraphs 3, 4, 5 and 6 above, Officers should consider the total cost or loss 
to the Combined Authority as a result of such Land Transaction.  Thus in the 
case of a lease or licence the total cost would be the rent or fees payable 
added up over the full term of the lease or licence plus any profit sharing or 
turnover payment that could be payable.  Guidance from the Monitoring 
Officer should be sought in the event of any query on this matter.   

 
8. In addition to any approval set out above the approval of the Combined 

Authority shall be obtained in respect of any Merseytravel land/estates 
transactions which require Combined Authority approval under Section 10(1) of 
the Transport Act 1968 including any land surplus to requirements. 

 
9. The Head of Asset Management shall keep a record of all land and buildings 

owned by the Combined Authority.  The Monitoring Officer shall be responsible 
for the safe keeping and retention of all property deeds.   

 
10. In relation to land and buildings all Heads of Service shall:- 
 

(a) ensure that lessees and other prospective occupiers of Combined 
Authority land are not allowed to take possession or enter the land until 
a lease or agreement, in a form approved by the Monitoring Officer of 
the Combined Authority has been established as appropriate; 

(b) ensure the proper security of all buildings and other assets under their 
control; and take the appropriate action in any case where security is 
thought to be defective or where it is considered that special security 
arrangements may be needed; 

(c) identify land or buildings which are surplus to requirements; 
(d) pass title deeds to the Monitoring Officer who is responsible for custody 

of all title deeds; 
(e) ensure that no Combined Authority owned land or building is subject to 

personal use or any other use other than in pursuance of approved 
service delivery without proper authority and where appropriate, 
documentation identifying terms, responsibilities and duration of use;  

(f) arrange for the valuation of assets for accounting purposes to meet 
requirements specified by the Treasurer of the Combined Authority; 
and 

(g) only dispose of any land or property or any interest therein in 
accordance with the Corporate Disposal Procedures. 

 
 

Page 122



11. All contracts and other documentation relating to land transactions shall be in 

writing, signed or sealed (as appropriate) as determined by the procedures set 

out in paragraph 15 of the Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

   

  

 
  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 
CONSTITUTION OF  

THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION 
COMBINED AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

Part 5 
 

Financial Standing Orders  

 
 

 

    
    
  

Page 125



 
 

 
 

    
    
  Section C 

 
Procurement and Contract 

Procedure Rules 
 

 
CONTENTS 

 
 

 

 

    
    
 No. Section Page 

No 

   

 1. Definitions  
 2. General  
 3. Scope  
 4. Commissioning  
 5. Pre-tender Market Research and Consultation  
 6. Procedures Applicable to All Procurements after 

Commissioning 
 

 7. Procedure Applicable to Low Value Procurements  
 8. Procedure Applicable to Intermediate Value 

Procurements 
 
 

 9. Procedures Applicable to High Value and High Risk 
Procurements 

 
 

 10. Absolute Exemptions from Procurement Procedure 
Rules 

 

 11. Qualified Exemption from Procurement Procedure Rules  
 12. Tenders  
 13. Award of Contract  
 14. 

15. 
16. 
17. 

Form of Contract 
Authentication of Documents 
Termination of Contract 
Legal Proceedings 

 

 
  

Page 126



 
 

 
 

Section C 

Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules 

 
1. Definitions 
 
 Within these Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules (PPR):- 
 

(a) “Central Purchasing Body” means contracting authorities that acquire goods, 
services or works intended for one or more contracting authorities, award 
contracts intended for one or more contracting authorities and / or conclude 
framework agreements for goods, services or works intended for one or more 
contracting authorities including without limitation Crown Commercial 
Services and Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation; 

 
(b) “Combined Authority” means the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority or 

Merseytravel as appropriate; 
 
(c) “Commissioning” means the process of specifying, consulting with affected 

Officers and monitoring of services to meet service needs both in the short 
and long term as outlined in more detail in paragraph 4 below; 

 
(d) “Contract Review” means a process to assess the performance/delivery and 

value for money of an existing contract from both a commercial and outcome 
based approach which will influence the future contractual relationship with 
any incumbent contractor; 

 
(e) “Contracts Finder” means a web based portal provided for the purposes of the 

Regulations; 
 
(f) “Delegated Decision” means a decision named as such in the Combined 

Authority‟s or Merseytravel‟s Scheme of Delegation; 
 
(g) “Decision” means a decision named as such in the Combined Authority‟s or 

Merseytravel‟s Scheme of Delegation; 
 
(h) “Director” means a Director of the Combined Authority or Merseytravel as 

appropriate; 
 
(i) “Dynamic Purchasing System” means an electronic process for making 

commonly used purchases, the characteristics of which are generally 
available on the market.  Throughout the validity it is open to any suppliers 
which satisfies the selection criteria.   

 
(j) “EPS” means the Combined Authority‟s electronic process of tendering for 

goods, services and works; 
 
(k) “Electronic Auction” means an electronic auction conducted in accordance 

with procedures determined by the Monitoring Officer; 
 
(l) “Framework Agreement” means an agreement between one or more 

contracting authorities  and one or more contractors, the purpose of which is 

Page 127



 
 

 
 

to establish the terms governing contracts to be available during a given 
period in particular with regard to price, as detailed in the Regulations; 

 
(m) “Head of Service” means those officers who are so designated by the 

Combined Authority as a Head of Service, Senior Head of Service or Rolling 
Stock Project Director; 

 
(n) “High Risk Procurement” means a procurement that:- 

 
(i) has potential implications for the health and safety of employees, 

service users, residents of  the Liverpool City Region, contractors or 
other stakeholders; 

(ii) has potential business continuity implications, for example where 
failure of supply would have implications on the Combined Authority‟s 
ability to deliver proper services; 

(iii) is for goods, services or works that are provided directly to children 
and/or other vulnerable members of the community; 

(iv) is for goods, services or works  where there is a potential 
environmental impact;  

(v)  is for goods, services or works where there is any other identifiable 
risk either to the reputation, financial standing or ability to deliver 
services on the part of the Combined Authority;  

  and/or 
(vii)  is determined to be such once  assessed in accordance with the 

Combined Authority Corporate Risk Impact Ratings.  
 
(o) “High Value Procurement” means a procurement with a total aggregated 

value over £150,000 calculated in accordance with paragraph 6 below 
(exclusive of VAT);  

 
(p) “Intermediate Value Procurement” means a procurement with a total 

aggregated value between £20,000 and £150,000 calculated in accordance 
with paragraph 6 below (exclusive of VAT); 

 
(q) “ITT” means an Invitation to Tender or an Invitation to Quote; 
 
(r) “Low Value Procurement” means a procurement with a total aggregated value 

under £20,000 calculated in accordance with paragraph 6 below (exclusive of 
VAT); 

 
(s) “Monitoring Officer” means the Monitoring Officer of the Combined Authority 

or the Secretary of Merseytravel as appropriate; 
 
 (t) “Officers” means any officer employed by the Combined Authority; 
 
(u) “One Place” means the Combined Authority‟s corporate intranet; 
 
(v) “Purchase Order” shall mean a purchase order in the format prescribed by the 

Treasurer of the Combined Authority; 
 
(w) “Register” means a register of Bus Service Operators maintained in 

accordance with the Transport Act 1985; 
 

Page 128



 
 

 
 

(x) “Regulations” means The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, The Utilities 
Contracts Regulations 2016 and/or the Concession Contract Regulations 
2016 (as appropriate and as amended or replaced); 

 
(y) “Select List” means lists of approved contractors for the provision of goods 

services and/or works established under these PPR and as approved by the 
Combined Authority; 

 
(z) “SME‟s” means an enterprise falling within the category of micro, small or 

medium sized enterprises defined by the EU Commission Recommendation 
of 6 May 2003; 

 
(aa)  “Social Value” means having regard to economic, social and environmental 

wellbeing as set out in the Public Service (Social Value) Act 2012 (as 
amended or replaced) in relation to public services contracts; 

 
(bb) “Subsidised Service Contract” means an agreement providing for bus service 

subsidy within the meaning of Section 63(10)(b) of the Transport Act 1985; 
 
(cc) “Tender” means a document prepared by a potential supplier setting out it‟s 

bid for the work in response to an Invitation to Tender; 
 
(dd) “Value for Money” means ensuring that the same quality goods, services and 

works cannot be achieved at a substantially lower price elsewhere.  The 
quality of related services ie delivery, maintenance, after sales support should 
be taken into account along with the direct costs of the goods, services or 
works.  Ways of ensuring Value for Money include: 

 
(i)  obtaining a number of informal quotations from different suppliers; 
(ii)  comparing prices in supplier‟s brochures, sales literature; 
(iii)  benchmarking prices with other authorities or organisations;  
(iv)  comparing prices with those previously paid, taking into account 

inflationary and deflationary factors; and 
(v) making use of existing framework arrangements, existing dynamic 

purchasing systems, call-off arrangements or approved lists of 
suppliers involving the Procurement Team in the  process. 

 
2.   General 
 

2.1 These PPR apply in respect of any procurements by the Combined Authority. 
 
2.2 Every contract entered into by the Combined Authority shall be entered into 

pursuant to or in connection with the Combined Authority‟s functions (as 
appropriate) and shall comply with: 

 
(a)  all relevant statutory provisions including but not limited to Section 149 

of the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Service (Social Value) Act 
2012 ( as amended or replaced); 

(b)  the Regulations, the Treaty of Rome and the general principles of 
national and EU legislation (if applicable);  

(c)  the Combined Authority Constitution including these PPR‟s, the 
Financial Regulations and the Scheme of Delegation; 

(d) the Combined Authority Transport Plan for the Combined Authority 
area;  

(e)  the Combined Authority Procurement Strategy; 

Page 129



 
 

 
 

(f)  The Combined Authority Equalities Policy; and  
(g)  any other relevant Combined Authority strategies and/or policies. 

 
Where any PPR conflicts with any statutory provision, any statutory 
modification or re-enactment thereof or any regulations made thereunder, that 
provision or regulation shall prevail. 

 
 2.3 The purpose of the PPR‟s is to ensure: 
 

(a) competition and propriety are present in the tendering and the award 
of contracts for the provision of all supplies, services and the 
execution of works; 

(b) a transparent, lawful and fair procurement process;  
(c) Value for Money for the Combined Authority; 
(d) the thresholds and level of authority for approvals is consistent with 

the Combined Authority‟s approved Scheme of Delegation; 
(e) the procedures for enabling competition and regulating the manner in 

which quotations and Tenders are invited, evaluated and contracts 
awarded are clear; 

(f) relevant legislation is complied with; and 
(g) relevant approvals are sought. 
 

 
2.4  One Place will assist in ensuring consistency of approach to procurement 

across the Combined Authority.  A dedicated procurement resource will be 
maintained on One Place and will contain guidance and good practice to 
assist Officers in following best procurement practice.  The contents of the 
procurement guidance on One Place will be reviewed at regular intervals by 
the Monitoring Officer. 

 
2.5  The Combined Authority has a Confidential Reporting Code that applies to all 

Officers and includes those contractors working for the Combined Authority.  
Officers must be proactive in ensuring that its policies and procedures, culture 
and stance in relation to the prevention, detection and action against fraud 
are communicated to all relevant parties. 

 
2.6 Any breach or non-compliance with these PPR must on discovery be reported 

immediately to the Head of Audit.  The Head of Audit shall determine whether 
such breach or non-compliance presents a significant risk of harm to the 
Combined Authority and if satisfied that such risk exists shall undertake any 
necessary investigation and report the findings to the Combined Authority.   

 
2.7 (a) The Combined Authority will conduct its business and operations in  
   accordance with the highest professional and ethical standards; 

(b) The Combined Authority will take appropriate action to ensure that its 
resources are not spent on practices that lead to unlawful 
discrimination, unlawful activity and/or breach of the Combined 
Authority‟s equality duty; 

(c) The Combined Authority will consider any failure by Officers to comply 
with the Constitution and if necessary will address such through the 
Combined Authority‟s disciplinary processes; 

(d) The Monitoring Officer shall undertake a continuous review of the 
Constitution and submit any additions or changes necessary to the 
Combined Authority for approval; 

Page 130



 
 

 
 

(e) The Treasurer shall, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer be 
responsible for ensuring that all contract activity undertaken by the 
Combined Authority is done so in accordance with these PPR and the 
Regulations; 

(f) The Directors and Heads of Service shall ensure that all Officers in 
their directorates are aware of the existence and content of the 
Constitution and other internal regulatory documents and that they 
comply with them;  

(g) The Monitoring Officer shall advertise all contracts/anticipated 
contracts in excess of £25,000 on Contracts Finder if they are 
advertised elsewhere; 

(h) The Monitoring Officer shall maintain a register of all Combined 
Authority contracts in excess of £20,000;   

(i) The Monitoring Officer shall make an appropriate EPS available; This 
system shall: 
(i)  evidence that any transmission was successfully completed 

and recorded; 
(ii)  keep Tenders in a separate secure electronic folder which is 

not opened until the deadline has passed for receipt of 
Tenders; 

(iii) keep a record of all Tenders received; 
(iv)  keep a record via EPS of all correspondence between the 

Combined Authority and the tenderers;  
(j) The Combined Authority shall expect that individuals and 

organisations, including the suppliers, contractors and service 
providers, with whom it deals, will act towards the Combined Authority 
with integrity and without thought or actions involving fraud and 
corruption; and 

(k) The Combined Authority shall maintain the principles of non-
discrimination, equal treatment and transparency. 

 
2.8  Officers will work to ensure: 

 
(a)  lead by example in ensuring adherence to legal requirements, rules, 

procedures and practices; 
(b) allow sufficient time to provide for all the various elements for the 

fulfilment of the appropriate procurement process giving due regard to 
statutory timescales; 

(c)  work with relevant officers to fully engage them in the process and 
thereby develop a realistic procurement/decision making/mobilisation 
of the new contractor and demobilisation of any existing contractor; 

(d) undertake Commissioning as required by these PPR; 
(e)  when procuring goods services or works focus on the principles of 

efficiency, effectiveness, sustainability,  economy and shall consider 
collaborating as a procurement option (if appropriate); 

(f) ensure that those responsible for procuring goods services or works 
on behalf of the Combined Authority shall comply with these PPR;  

(g) ensure that all specifications for IT goods or services is ratified during 
Commissioning by the Head of IT; 

(h)  consider and implement the principles of non-discrimination, equal 
treatment and transparency and the highest standards of probity; 

(i) not seek to procure goods, services or works without the engagement 
of the relevant Head of Service and the Monitoring Officer as per the 
requirements of this Constitution; 

Page 131



 
 

 
 

(j) not distort competition but also  consider with the Monitoring Officer 
the potential of aggregating  and disaggregating contracts to 
encourage SME participation in procurements; but not in order to 
avoid the requirements of the Regulations and these PPR; 

(k)  accurately determine the aggregate value of contracts (including any 
anticipated extensions or additional work) to calculate the estimated 
contract value and the appropriate route to market as advised in these 
PPR, advice can be provided by the Monitoring Officer to undertake 
this review; 

(l)  not use any information received during the course of business and in 
particular, the quotations or tendering procedure for personal 
advantage; and 

(m)  not disclose to a third party information except for anti-fraud purposes 
or in accordance with the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act 
2000 or other relevant legislation.  In cases where there is uncertainty 
as to whether a particular course of action complies with the ethical 
standards, the advice of the Monitoring Officer needs to be sought. 

 
3.   Scope  
 

3.1  These PPR apply to: 
 

(a) the purchase, leasing and hiring of goods, provision of services and 
the execution of works for and on behalf of the Combined Authority; 

(b) any procurement where Tenders are invited by the Combined 
Authority on behalf of any partnership, consortium, collaboration 
group, association or similar body of which the Combined Authority is 
a member;  

(c) all procurement activity, including activity where third parties are 
involved in spending public monies on behalf of the Combined 
Authority (unless agreed otherwise); and  

(d) all contracts entered into by the Combined Authority by an Officer on 
behalf of the Combined Authority. 

 
3.2 These PPR shall not apply to: 
 

(a) employment contracts; 
(b) contracts relating solely to the acquisition or disposal of land or any 

other estates matters.  (The Land Procedure Rules shall apply in such 
circumstances); 

(c) contracts relating to the disposal of furniture, goods, vehicles, plant 
and equipment which are deemed surplus to requirements.  (The 
Corporate Disposal Procedures shall apply in such circumstances); 

(d) Treasury management activity.  (The Treasury Management Policy 
shall apply in such circumstances); and/or 

(e) any contract referenced in paragraph 10 below. 
 

3.3 All procurement activity and any procurement exemptions may NOT be made 
retrospectively and no exemption can be used if the Regulations apply to the 
contract unless such exemption is permitted under such Regulations; 

 
3.4 NO exceptions from any of the provisions contained herein shall be made 

otherwise than as set out in these PPR or the Scheme of Delegation or by the 
direction of the Combined Authority duly noted in their minutes.   

  

Page 132



 
 

 
 

4.   Commissioning  
 

4.1   Commissioning is not procurement.   
 
4.2  These rules apply to Officers undertaking Commissioning for all purchases of 

goods services and works over £20,000. 
 
4.3  It is essential that Officers responsible for Commissioning consider the 

following factors and undertake the appropriate steps as a pre requisite to 
commissioning:- 

 
(a) undertake consultation with other officers affected by the project; 
(b) undertake a Contract Review if a contract has been or is currently 

being provided; 
(c) take appropriate advices from the Head of Service for the area 

affected and the relevant support functions ie Legal, IT, Finance, HR 
and PMO; 

(d) have prepared and documented an estimate of the cost of the contract 
including, where appropriate, any maintenance ongoing and future 
costs; 

(e) consulted with Finance and be satisfied that adequate budget 
provision for the contract (and the future costs for the life of the goods, 
services or works to be procured) exists; 

(f) prepare a specification that will form the basis of the contract; 
(g) consider the potential staffing implications of the contract and in 

particular TUPE considerations, and discuss with the Head of People 
and Organisational Development and the Monitoring Officer; 

(h) consider risk, including any risks to the Combined Authority‟s broader 
strategic objectives, reputational risks and risks to the local economy 
and supply chain; 

(i) for contracts where there is evident risk and for all High Value and 
High Risk Procurements produce and maintain a risk register for the 
procurement process and the eventual contractual relationship.  As a 
minimum this should analyse all risks, identify how the risks will be 
managed and the responsible Officer; 

(j) comply with all statutory requirements in respect of completion of 
equality impact assessments; 

(k) consider dividing any potential contracts into lots to encourage SME 
participation;  

(l) ensure that all specifications for IT goods, services or works are 
ratified at the Commissioning Stage by the Head of IT; and  

(m) consider any mechanisms to recover Social Value from the contract.  
 

5.   Pre-tender Market Research and Consultation 
 

5.1 Prior to the issue of an ITT Officers may, with the agreement and support of 
the Monitoring Officer, consult potential tenderers in  general terms about the 
nature, level and standard of the goods services or works to be provided, 
contract packaging and other relevant matters.  Such consultation should not 
be anti-competitive or a breach of transparency and non-discrimination 
principles and must be in compliance with the Regulations. 

 
5.2 Officers are required to ensure that where a potential tenderer has been 

involved in pre-tender market research to help inform a procurement all such 

Page 133



 
 

 
 

relevant information needs to be shared with all tenderers to ensure a level 
playing field.   

 
 
6. Procedures Applicable to all Procurements after Commissioning 
 

6.1 The application of PPR is dependent on value thresholds and risk.  Officers 
shall calculate the anticipated value of the contract ie its “whole life” costs to 
determine the correct category of PPR.  For support in determining whole life 
costs the advices of the Monitoring Officer can be sought. 

 
6.2  There are 3 categories of procurements:- 
 

(a) Low Value Procurements; 
(b) Intermediate Value Procurements; and 
(c)  High Value and High Risk Procurements. 

 
The EPS shall be utilised for all Intermediate Value Procurements and High 
Value Procurements.   

 
6.3  Officers shall after the completion of Commissioning, consult the Monitoring 

Officer at an early stage in determining the most appropriate route to market 
for contracts likely to be economically significant in regard to the regional or 
national economy. 

 
6.4 All contracts should be let for a clearly defined period or with appropriate 

termination provisions.  Where a service has no definable end date, the 
contract value shall normally be determined as the total value of the service 
estimated over a four year period. 

 
6.5 In the case of joint purchasing arrangements the value shall be the value of 

both parties‟ purchases.  Officers shall not seek to divide potential 
procurements in order to avoid the requirements of the Regulations and these 
PPR. 

 
6.6 Procurements will impact on other areas of the organisation.  It is important, 

therefore that goods services and works are only procured after effective 
Commissioning and due consultation with the relevant Head of Service 
regardless of value.  The relevant Head of Service shall be responsible for the 
procurement of the following Services: 

 
(a) All IT equipment and IT services, whether hardware or software 

infrastructure or services by the Head of IT; 
(b) Communication and marketing services by the Head of 

Communications, Engagement and Marketing; 
(c) Health and Safety equipment by the Head of People and 

Organisational Development/Head of Asset Management (as 
appropriate); 

(d) Professional services (consultancy) by the relevant Head of Service 
for the discipline concerned; 

(e) Training by the Head of People and Organisational Development; 
(f) Asset Management Services, including electrical, plumbing, 

construction or other construction and maintenance services by the 
Head of Asset Management; 

Page 134



 
 

 
 

(g) Legal services including advices on employment law matters by the 
Monitoring Officer (as appropriate); 

(h) Financial matters by the Head of Finance. 
 

6.7 Goods, services or works should in appropriate circumstances, be obtained 
via existing arrangements wherever possible.  These arrangements include: 

 
(a) in-house services; 
(b)  existing Framework Agreements or Dynamic Purchasing Systems 

(internal or external); 
(c) existing Select Lists or Register; and 
(d) established corporate contracts. 

 
6.8 Officers shall consult and obtain approval from the Monitoring Officer if they 

do not consider an existing arrangement to be suitable.   
 
6.9  Nominated subcontracts shall be awarded in accordance with the procedures 

outlined above.   
 
6.10 Officers shall give due consideration to the provisions of the Public Services 

(Social Value) Act 2012 prior to the commencement of a procurement 
process for any services contracts. 

 
6.11 Heads of Service shall notify the Monitoring Officer of any planned 

Intermediate and High Value Procurement at the commencement of each 
financial year. 

 
7. Procedure Applicable to Low Value Procurements 
 

7.1 For Low Value Procurements, Officers are obliged to:-  
 

(a) anticipate purchases in good time and make use of existing 
arrangements through the Monitoring Officer; 

(b) ensure that Value for Money is obtained; 
(c) ensure that a transparent and fair procurement process is applied; 
(d) consider that a Low Value Procurement may still be extremely 

significant for potential suppliers and could be subject to challenge;  
(e) retain evidence to be able to demonstrate, if required, how Value for 

Money has been secured or by demonstrating that the goods, services 
or works to be procured is proprietary or otherwise unique in nature; 
and   

(f) consider using the EPS.   
 

7.2 All Low Value Procurements require the approval of the Head of Service.  
Such approval shall be obtained using the Purchase Order system.   

 
8. Procedure Applicable to Intermediate Value Procurements 
 

8.1 Officers are required to notify the Monitoring Officer of all Intermediate Value 
Procurements prior to commencement of the procurement.  This is so that, 
where possible, the Combined Authority can make use of existing 
arrangements such as Framework Agreements or Dynamic Purchasing 
Systems as this greatly reduces the cost of procurement activity while still 
providing the optimum balance of Value for Money and risk.  All Intermediate 
Value Procurements shall be undertaken by the Procurement team.   

Page 135



 
 

 
 

 
 
8.2 For Intermediate Value Procurements a minimum number of three separate 

quotations or Tenders shall be invited from suppliers in the relevant market.  
More quotations/Tenders should be obtained where the Monitoring Officer 
and the relevant Head of Service believes there is a reasonable level of 
competition or variety of solutions.  If less than three quotations or Tenders 
are received then Officers shall (in consultation with the relevant Head of 
Service and the Monitoring Officer) ensure that they can demonstrate Value 
for Money before proceeding to award of contract. 

 
8.3  (a) Officers shall take advice from the Monitoring Officer in respect of the 

  most appropriate route to market, this could be using a Framework 
Agreement, Dynamic Purchasing System, Central Purchasing Body, 
collaborative arrangement, Electronic Auction or Select List; 

(b) Officers shall prepare a clear specification of requirements; 
(c) Officers shall specify the outcomes and outputs.  Inputs should only 

be included in specifications where these are material to the contract 
or where social and environmental considerations apply; 

(d) Officers shall specify the goods, services or works to be provided 
approved by the relevant Head of Service and outline the terms and 
conditions of contract determined by the Monitoring Officer; 

(e) Officers shall prepare evaluation critieria and undertake such 
evaluations; 

(f) Officers shall determine the risk to the Combined Authority posed by a 
contract and, where applicable shall only invite to tender or enter into 
a contract with a supplier if it is satisfied as to the supplier's financial 
standing; 

(g) In the event that there are any concerns about any of the tenderers 
Officers shall seek advice on:- 
(i)   economic and financial standing from the Head of Audit; 
(ii)   technical and/or professional ability by references; and 
(iii) insurance from the Head of Audit . 

(h) If an Absolute or Qualified Exemption from PPR is required, the advice 
of the Monitoring Officer should be sought, it shall be clearly stated 
and the justification for the exemption and demonstrate how Value for 
Money has been assured. 

 
8.4 The Monitoring Officer shall: 
 

(a) ensure that all Intermediate Value Procurements over £25,000 are 
advertised on Contracts Finder; 

(b) determine the appropriate procurement route to secure the best value; 
(c) assist the Officers in determining the basis for evaluating the Tenders 

if requested to do so; 
(d) determine appropriate terms and conditions of contract; and 
(e) Administer the EPS. 

 
8.5 All Intermediate Value Procurements require approval by a Delegated 

Decision of the Combined Authority.  This will be completed in a manner that 
is consistent with the Combined Authority‟s Scheme of Delegation and will 
demonstrate due consultation with the relevant Officers, Heads of Service 
and Directors. 

 

Page 136



 
 

 
 

8.6  The Officer (or the Monitoring Officer if EPS is used) shall retain a formal 
record of the process, to include: 

 
(a) the Officer(s) undertaking the procurement; 
(b) the rationale for the procurement route chosen; 
(c) a copy of the specification; 
(d) all quotations or Tenders; 
(e) a copy of the evaluation process and reasons for the decision as to 

the acceptance or rejection of a tenderer‟s quotation or Tender; 
(f) the award letter and any communications to unsuccessful tenderers; 
(g) copy of the final contract; 
(h) ongoing review and monitoring documentation; 
(i) an appropriate record of the decision; and  
(j) any supporting evidence in respect of 8.3 above. 

 
9. Procedures Applicable to High Value and High Risk Procurements 
 

9.1  All High Value Procurements are to be notified to the Monitoring Officer prior 
to commencement of the procurement.  This is so that, where possible, the 
Combined Authority can make use of existing arrangements such as 
Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems as this greatly 
reduces the cost of procurement activity while still providing the optimum 
balance of Value for Money and risk.  All High Value Procurements shall be 
undertaken by the Procurement team.   

 
9.2  Officers shall carry out the following steps:- 
 

(a) undertake a formal risk assessment prior to commencement of the 
procurement process to identify any risks relevant and proportionate 
to the goods, services or works to be procured by the Combined 
Authority such risk assessment shall be continually reviewed, copies 
retained and updated during the tender process and the contract 
period; 

(b) take advice from the Monitoring Officer in respect of the most 
appropriate route to market, this could be using a Framework 
Agreement, Dynamic Purchasing System Central Purchasing Body, 
collaborative arrangement, Electronic Auction or Select List; 

(c) consult with the Monitoring Officer in respect of other required 
documentation to enable the Monitoring Officer to undertake the 
Procurement utilising the EPS;  

(d) prepare a clear specification of requirements; 
(e) specify the outcomes and outputs.  Inputs should only be included in 

specifications where these are material to the contract or where social 
and environmental considerations apply and the Monitoring Officer 
has agreed; 

(f) specify the goods, services or works to be provided approved by the 
relevant Head of Service and outline the terms and conditions of 
contract determined by the Monitoring Officer; 

(g) comply with the Regulations in addition to these PPR.  Guidance on 
the Regulations including the relevant thresholds is available through 
One Place or by contacting the Monitoring Officer; 

(h) prepare evaluation criteria and undertake such evaluations; 
(i) in the event that there are any concerns about any of the tenderers 

shall seek advice in respect of: 

Page 137



 
 

 
 

(i)   economic and financial standing from Head of Audit of 
Merseytravel; 

(ii)   technical and/or professional ability by references; and 
(iii) insurance from the Head of Audit; 

(j) if an Absolute or Qualified Exemption from PPR is required, the advice 
of the Monitoring Officer should be sought, it shall be clearly stated 
and the justification for the exemption and demonstrate how Value for 
Money has been assured. 

 
9.3 The Monitoring Officer shall: 
 

(a) ensure that all High Value Procurement shall be advertised on 
Contracts Finder when advertised elsewhere; 

(b) determine the appropriate procurement route and the mechanism in 
the Regulations to secure the best value for the Combined Authority ; 

(c) assist the Officers in determining the basis for evaluating the Tenders; 
(d) determine appropriate terms and conditions of contract; and 
(e) Administer the EPS.  
 

9.4 All High Value Procurements require the approval of the Combined Authority.  
This will be completed in a manner that is consistent with the Combined 
Authority‟s Scheme of Delegation (as appropriate) and will demonstrate due 
consultation with the relevant Officers, Heads of Service and Directors. 

 
9.5 Officers shall, unless a report has been submitted in accordance with 

paragraph 9.6 below, prepare a formal report through the Modern.Gov system 
to seek approval by a Decision of the Combined Authority to award a contract 
for all High Value Procurements.  The Monitoring Officer will provide a 
Procurement Summary which will be attached to the report. 

 
9.6 At the commencement of the procurement process an Officer can submit a 

Pre-Procurement Report to the Combined Authority outlining the proposed 
project with outline specification, budget, procurement route, evaluation 
criteria and respective weightings and a detailed breakdown of expenditure in 
respect of a project.   If such a report was submitted and endorsed by the 
Combined Authority then Officers are only required to obtain a Delegated 
Decision of Combined Authority to seek approval to award a contract for such 
High Value Procurements. 

 
9.7 The Monitoring Officer shall retain a formal record of the process, to include: 
 

(a) the Officer(s) undertaking the procurement; 
(b) the rationale for the procurement route chosen; 
(c) a copy of the specification; 
(d) all Tenders; 
(e) a copy of the evaluation process and reasons for the decision as to 

the acceptance or rejection of a Tender; 
(f) the award letter and communications to unsuccessful tenderers; 
(g) copy of the final contract; 
(h) ongoing review and monitoring documentation; 
(i) an appropriate record of the decision; and  
(j) any supporting evidence in respect of  9.2 above. 

 
 
 

Page 138



 
 

 
 

10.  Absolute Exemptions from PPR 
 

10.1 The following procurements are Absolute Exemptions from the requirement 
to obtain quotations or Tenders under these PPR: 

 
(a) contracts specified in 3.2 above; 
(b) the execution of work or the supply of services which can only be 

carried out by a particular public utility undertaking, statutory 
undertaker, local authority or similar body; and  

(c)  any contract that is exempt under the Regulations. 
 
10.2 Absolute Exemptions under 10.1 (b) shall be supported by a formal Decision 

depending on the value of the contract being exempt.  A Delegated Decision 
of the Combined Authority is required for Absolute Exemptions for 
Intermediate Value Procurements.  A Decision of the Combined Authority is 
required for Absolute Exemptions for High Value Procurements.  The 
Treasurer of the Combined Authority shall be consulted on all Absolute 
Exemptions for High Value or High Risk Procurements and such shall be 
subject to a Decision of the Combined Authority.   

 
11.  Qualified Exemptions from PPR  
 

Qualified Exemptions shall apply in certain circumstances and should be supported 
by a formal decision, depending on the value of the contract being exempt from PPR.   
 
The following procurements are Qualified Exemptions from the requirement to 
obtain quotations or Tenders under these PPR:- 
 
(a)   contracts where the goods, services or works are proprietary articles which 

(and any acceptable substitutes for which) are supplied only by one person or 
firm or are sold at a fixed price and where the relevant Head of Service is 
satisfied that there is no reasonable satisfactory alternative; 

(b) contracts where the price of the goods is wholly controlled by government 
order/statutory body or otherwise and no reasonably satisfactory alternative is 
available; 

(c) for other reasons there would be no genuine competition or where the 
requirements of competition as required by statute have already been met; 

(d) the goods, services or works are to be supplied constitutes an extension to an 
existing contract and subject to the Head of Service deciding that it would not 
be in the interests of the Combined Authority to tender the contract provided 
that:- 
(i) the amount being considered shall not exceed  the original value of 

the contract (unless approved by the Head of Service);   
(ii) the Officer is satisfied that such extension will achieve Value for 

Money and is reasonable in all the circustances; 
(iii) the Officer ensures that any additional funding required is available; 
(iv) if the original contract was subject to the Regulations, the contract is 

only being extended within the parameters identified in the original 
OJEU advert; 

(v) if the contract was not subject to the Regulations, the extension must 
not take the total value of the contract above the EU thresholds;  

(vi) if the contract was awarded as a Framework Agreement, the total 
contract period, including the extension, does not exceed four years;  

(vii) the decision making route relates to the total amount of the contract 
including all extension(s); and   

Page 139



 
 

 
 

(viii) due consideration has  been given to alternative market competition. 
(e) the contract is for the execution of work or the supply of goods or services 

certified by the appropriate Head of Service to be required so urgently as to 
preclude a competitive exercise.  This Qualified Exemption shall only apply to 
unforeseen and unforeseeable events and  does not apply where there has 
been a failing to act in a manner which would have permitted a full 
competitive exercise to take place; 

(f) the purchase of a named or propriety product required to be compatible with 
an existing installation; and 

(g) urgent action under Section 91(2) of the Transport Act 1985 for Subsidised 
Service Contracts. 

 
12. Tenders 
 

12.1 ITT shall include:- 
 

(a) all details of the specification  as determined by the Officer reviewed 
by the relevant Head of Service or if required by the relevant support  
service;   

(b) terms and conditions of contract as determined by the Monitoring 
Officer; 

(c) a specific date and time by which Tenders must be returned; 
(d) advice to tenderers that quotation documents, responses and any 

communication in respect of an ITT can only be submitted utilising the 
mechanism specified in the documentation; 

(e) advice to tenderers that Tenders and any communication in respect of 
an ITT must be submitted utilising the EPS; 

(f) explicit instructions to tenderers on the basis of Tenders requested; 
(h) the criteria to be used to evaluate Tenders and the basis of award, 

which shall have been agreed in advance by the Officer and the 
Monitoring Officer; and  

(i) the capacity to receive alternate Tenders if required and agreed in 
advance by the Officer and the Monitoring Officer. 

 
12.2 Late Tenders 
 

No Tender received after the closing date and time shall be considered 
unless there are exceptional circumstances  in which case it may be 
considered at the discretion of the  Head of Audit in conjunction with the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
12.3 Tender Evaluation 

 
Tenders 
 
(a) received for contracts that are subject to the Regulations will only be 

evaluated only in accordance with the Regulations and the evaluation 
criteria set out in the ITT or Contract Notice; 

(b) received for contracts not subject to the Regulations whether by value 
or by the nature of the contract,  shall similarly be evaluated in 
accordance only with the evaluation criteria notified to tenderers in the 
ITT; 

(c) shall only be evaluated using the predetermined and advertised 
evaluation criteria, in order of importance and incorporating 

Page 140



 
 

 
 

appropriate weightings (where possible or where required by the 
Regulations); 

(d) evaluation shall only be evaluated by suitably experienced Officers or 
other experienced persons  and shall not be conducted by anyone 
who has any conflict of interest with a tenderer.  Officers should, in 
such circumstances, comply with the Code of Conduct for Employees 
and declare such conflict and take no further part in the procurement 
process. 

 
12.4 Quotations/Tenders shall be accepted as follows: 

 
(a) the lowest quotation/Tender if payment is to be made by the 

Combined Authority; 
(b) the highest if payment is to be received by the Combined Authority;  
(c) the quotation/Tender which represents the Most Economically 

Advantageous Offer (MEAT)  to the Combined Authority where 
specified in the ITT; or 

(d) under any such alternative evaluation criteria as will achieve best 
value for the Combined Authority in such circumstances, subject to the 
approval of the Monitoring Officer 

 
13   Award of Contract 
 

13.1 Award of Contract shall only take place if  
 
(a) sufficient budget provision exists, and that such sums of money have 

been notionally identified to be spent on that service/good in advance; 

(b) the terms and conditions of contract have been agreed to by the 
tenderer;  

(c) a decision to award has been made in accordance with this 
Constitution; and 

 
(d) for a contract  tendered pursuant to the Regulations the „standstill‟ 

period has been complied with and there has not been a legal 
challenge or other such obstacle preventing the award. 

 
13.2 For a contract that has been tendered pursuant to the Regulations that a 

contract award notice will be published in the OJEU no later than 30 days 
after the date of award of the contract; 

 
13.3  The Monitoring Officer shall provide feedback to unsuccessful tenderers for 

contracts subject to the Regulations on written request.  The relevant Head of 
Service shall provide the necessary information to the Monitoring Officer to 
provide this feedback. 

 
14. Form of Contract 
 

14.1  Every contract which exceeds £20,000 shall be in writing in a form approved 
by the Monitoring Officer. 

 
14.2 An Officer shall not instruct a contractor to commence works, supply goods or 

provide services which is subject to a contract in writing until the contract has 

Page 141



 
 

 
 

been signed and any performance bond secured.   However if a Head of 
Service, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, determines that there is 
an urgent need for the supply of goods, provision of services or execution of 
works which does not permit time for the execution of a written contract then 
the contract can be commenced.  However, the Officer shall ensure that a 
contract in writing in put into place as soon as practicable.   

 
14.3 All written contracts shall: 
 

(a) specify the goods services or works to be provided; 
(b) provide details of prices to be paid including a statement of discounts 

or other reductions; 
(c) state the period or times within which the contract is to be performed 

and, where appropriate, the amount of liquidated damages that may 
otherwise become due;  and 

(d) contain the terms and conditions of contract which are applicable. 
 

15. Authentication of Documentation 
 

15.1 Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on 
behalf of the Combined Authority it will be signed by the Monitoring Officer 
unless any enactment otherwise authorises or requires . 

 
15.2 Any contracts over £150,000 shall be a formal agreement made in writing and  

executed as a Deed by the affixing of the Common Seal of the Combined 
Authority in the presence of the Monitoring Officer.  

 
 

 15.3  The Monitoring Officer shall be entitled to delegate signature of such 
   documentation provided such delegation is in writing. 
 
 15.4 All other contracts may be signed by the Monitoring Officer or Directors of the 
   Combined Authority. 
 
  

15.5  If the Common Seal is to accompany the signature of the Monitoring Officer, 
an entry of every sealing of a document shall be made and consecutively 
numbered in a book provided for the purpose and open to inspection by every 
member of the Combined Authority.  Each entry shall be signed by the 
signatory who signed the sealed document. 
 

15.6 If any Directors sign contracts on behalf of the Combined Authority a copy of 
the contract shall be forwarded to the Monitoring Officer of the Combined 
Authority for their records. 

 
 
16. Termination of Contract 
 
 Any termination of a contract arising from a High Value Procurement shall be 

approved by the Monitoring Officer.  Contracts of a lesser value may be terminated 
earlier than the expiry date by agreement or in accordance with the termination 
provisions in the contract.  Legal advice should be sought as appropriate. 

 
 
 

Page 142



 
 

 
 

17. Legal Proceedings 
 
 The Monitoring Officer of the Combined Authority is authorised to institute, defend or 

participate in any legal proceedings in any case where such action is considered 
necessary to give effect to decisions of the Combined Authority or in any case where 
such action is considered necessary to protect the Combined Authority‟s interests. 

   

 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	Minutes

	4 Internal Audit Performance
	Enc. 1 for Internal Audit Performance

	5 Risk Management Update
	Enc. 1 for Risk Management Update
	Enc. 2 for Risk Management Update

	6 Counter-Fraud Update
	Enc. 1 for Counter-Fraud Update
	Enc. 2 for Counter-Fraud Update

	7 Briefing Note on the Amendments to the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Single Entity Statement of Accounts 2018-19
	Briefing Note - Finance Report - 021019 Appendix 1

	8 Constitution Update and Combined Authority Returning Officer
	Constitution Update Report - A&G 021019 Appendix 1
	Constitution Update Report - A&G 021019 Appendix 2
	Constitution Update Report - A&G 021019 Appendix 3


